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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (MD&A)

Throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), Eldorado, we, us, our and the Company mean Eldorado Gold Corporation. 

This year means 2016. All dollar amounts are in U.S. dollars unless stated otherwise.

The information in this MD&A is as of February 23, 2017. You should also read our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2016. We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. We file them with appropriate regulatory authorities in Canada and the United States. You can find 
more information about Eldorado, including our Annual Information Form (“AIF”), on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

About Eldorado

Based in Vancouver, Canada, Eldorado owns and operates mines around the world. Its activities involve all facets of the mining industry including 
exploration, development, production and reclamation. 

OPERATING GOLD MINES:

●	 Kişladağ, in Turkey (100%)

●	 Efemçukuru, in Turkey (100%)

GOLD PROJECTS: 

●	 Olympias, in Greece (95%)

●	 Skouries, in Greece (95%) 

●	 Perama Hill, in Greece (100%)

●	 Certej, in Romania (81%)

●	 Tocantinzinho, in Brazil (100%) 

OTHER MINES: 

●	 Stratoni – Lead and Zinc Concentrates, in Greece (95%)

●	 Vila Nova – Iron Ore, in Brazil (100%)

ELDORADO IS LISTED ON THE FOLLOWING EXCHANGES:

●	 Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol ELD 

●	 New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol EGO
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2016 Overview

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (1)

●	 Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company of $344.2 million or $0.48 per share, compared to loss attributable to shareholders of the Company 
of $1,540.9 million or $2.15 per share in 2015.

●	 During 2016 the Company sold its Chinese assets for proceeds of $881.6 million, net of taxes. A loss of $351.2 million was recorded on the sale 
of the assets.

●	 Gross profit of $163.2 million compared to $125.6 million in 2015.

●	 Liquidity was $1,138.5 million at year end, including $888.5 million in cash, cash equivalents and term deposits, and $250.0 million in unused lines 
of credit (2015 – $667.6 million of liquidity).

SELECTED PERFORMANCE MEASURES (2)

●	 Gross profit from continuing gold mining operations of $158.7 million (2015 – $152.8 million). 

●	 Gold production, including discontinued operations and Olympias tailings retreatment of 486,025 ounces (2015 – 723,532 ounces).

●	 Total cash costs averaged $621 per ounce (2015 – $606 per ounce).

●	 All-in sustaining cash costs averaged $900 per ounce (2015 – $842).

●	 Adjusted net earnings of $47.4 million ($0.07 per share) compared to adjusted net earnings of $13.2 million ($0.02 per share) in 2015. 

●	 Cash generated from continuing operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital was $104.4 million (2015 – $76.6 million). 

(1)	 In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5 – “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations”, the Company’s China segment has been classified as a discontinued operation for the 
year ended December 31, 2016, and accordingly the 2015 comparative information has been restated. Except where indicated, the financial and performance information presented in this MD&A 
includes discontinued operations.

(2)	 Throughout this MD&A we use cash operating cost per ounce, total cash costs per ounce, all-in sustaining cost per ounce, gross profit from gold mining operations, adjusted net earnings, and cash 
flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital as additional measures of Company performance. These are non-IFRS measures. Please see page 12 for an explanation and 
discussion of these non-IFRS measures.

SALE OF CHINESE ASSETS

The Company sold its interest in Jinfeng to a wholly owned subsidiary of China National Gold Group Corporation on September 6, 2016, and its interests 
in its other Chinese assets (Tanjianshan, White Mountain and Eastern Dragon) to an affiliate of Yintai Resources Co. Ltd. on November 22, 2016. 
Combined, the sales of the Company’s Chinese assets generated net proceeds of $881.6 million, net of taxes. A loss of $351.2 million was recorded 
on the sale of the assets.

PLANNED RETIREMENT OF PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER ANNOUNCED

On December 16, 2016 the Company announced the planned retirement of President and Chief Executive Officer Paul Wright and named George Burns 
as his successor.
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Summarized Annual Financial Results

($ millions except as noted)			   2016	 2015	 2014

Continuing Operations

Gold revenues			   388.6	 440.0	 521.3

Gold sold (oz)			   311,028	 380,039	 413,168

Average realized gold price ($/oz)			   1,249	 1,158	 1,266

Cash operating costs ($/oz)			   487	 537	 475

Total cash costs ($/oz)			   502	 554	 494

Gross profit from gold mining operations			   158.7	 152.8	 262.1

Including Discontinued Operations

Revenues			   650.2	 863.3	 1,067.9

Gold revenues			   605.9	 823.8	 980.9

Gold sold (oz)			   483,461	 705,310	 774,522

Average realized gold price ($/oz)			   1,253	 1,168	 1,266

Cash operating costs ($/oz)			   579	 552	 500

Total cash costs ($/oz)			   621	 606	 557

All-in sustaining cash cost ($/oz)			   900	 842	 779

Gross profit from gold mining operations			   203.5	 230.0	 382.7

Adjusted net earnings			   47.4	 13.2	 138.7

Net profit (loss) (1)		  	 (344.2)	 (1,540.9)	 102.6

Earnings (loss) per share – basic ($/share) (1)		  	 (0.48)	 (2.15)	 0.14

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted ($/share) (1)		  	 (0.48)	 (2.15)	 0.14

Cash flow from operating activities (3)			   142.0	 192.3	 342.9

Capital spending – cash basis			   320.3	 396.0	 410.7

Dividends paid – (CDN$/share)			   –	 0.02	 0.02

Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits			   888.5	 292.6	 501.3

Total assets			   4,797.9	 5,464.9	 7,393.6

Total long-term financial liabilities (2)		  	 692.2	 698.8	 745.5

(1)	 Attributable to shareholders of the Company.
(2)	 Includes long-term debt net of deferred financing costs, other non-current liabilities, and asset retirement obligations.
(3)	 Before changes in non-cash working capital.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company was $344.2 million, (or $0.48 per share), compared to a loss of $1,540.9 million, or $2.15 per share in 2015. 
The loss in 2016 was mainly due to the $351.2 million loss recorded on the sale of the Company’s Chinese assets as well as $13.0 million in transaction costs, 
and $17.2 million in unrealized non-cash losses on foreign exchange translation of deferred income tax balances. The loss in 2015 was mainly due to impairment 
losses, net of tax, in the amount of $1,423.0 million, and a deferred income tax charge of $63.5 million related to a change in income tax rates in Greece. 

Adjusted net earnings for the year were $47.4 million ($0.07 per share) as compared to $13.2 million ($0.02 per share) for 2015. While gross profit from 
gold mining operations, including discontinued operations, were $26.5 million lower year over year, gross profit from Stratoni was $18.1 million higher. 
General and administrative expenses, defined pension plan expense, and share based payments fell a combined $8.9 million year over year. Tax expense fell 
approximately $22.0 million, excluding the impact of the sale of the Company’s Chinese assets, due to lower withholding taxes on dividends declared by 
Company subsidiaries and a decrease in the effective tax rate related to lower taxable income from our Chinese operations which have a 25% income tax rate 
as compared to Turkey which has a 20% income tax rate. Foreign exchange loss was $2.7 million as compared to $15.0 million in 2015, as the value of the 
Canadian dollar and Brazilian real in comparison to the U.S. dollar stabilized during 2016, after falling significantly during 2015. 

Gold sales volumes decreased year over year, reflecting a decrease in gold production at Kişladağ and the sale of the Company’s Chinese mines during 
the year. Gross profit from gold mining operations including discontinued operations fell due to lower sales volumes and higher unit costs, partly offset 
by higher gold prices. Gross profit from continuing gold mining operations (Kişladağ and Efemçukuru) increased slightly year over year on higher realized 
gold prices and lower unit operating costs. 
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Summarized Quarterly Financial Results – Including Discontinued Operations

2016

($ millions except as noted)	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 2016

Revenues 	 164.1	 171.5	 174.0	 140.6	 650.2

Gold revenues	 160.0	 162.7	 156.0	 127.2	 605.9

Gold sold (oz)	 133,467	 128,090	 116,882	 105,022	 483,461

Average realized gold price ($/oz)	 1,198	 1,270	 1,335	 1,211	 1,253

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 603	 607	 566	 531	 579

All-in sustaining cash cost ($/oz)	 886	 933	 890	 880	 900

Gross profit from gold mining operations	 41.2	 55.5	 64.6	 42.2	 203.5

Adjusted net earnings (loss)	 (0.7)	 11.7	 33.5	 2.9	 47.4

Net profit (loss) (1)	 (2.5)	 (329.9)	 20.7	 (32.5)	 (344.2)

Earnings (loss) per share – basic ($/share) (1)	 –	 (0.46)	 0.03	 (0.05)	 (0.48)

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted ($/share) (1)	 –	 (0.46)	 0.03	 (0.05)	 (0.48)

Cash flow from operating activities (2)	 25.1	 38.1	 52.9	 25.9	 142.0

2015

($ millions except as noted)	 Q1	 Q2	 Q3	 Q4	 2015

Revenues	 238.3	 214.2	 211.5	 199.3	 863.3

Gold revenues	 224.0	 204.2	 206.2	 189.4	 823.8

Gold sold (oz)	 181,820	 170,056	 182,124	 171,310	 705,310

Average realized gold price ($/oz)	 1,232	 1,201	 1,132	 1,105	 1,168

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 521	 569	 552	 567	 552

All-in sustaining cash cost ($/oz)	 729	 900	 835	 914	 842

Gross profit from gold mining operations	 77.1	 61.4	 53.1	 38.4	 230.0

Adjusted net earnings	 19.5	 17.0	 (4.0)	 (19.3)	 13.2

Net profit (loss) (1)	 (8.2)	 (198.6)	 (96.1)	 (1,238.0)	 (1,540.9)

Earnings per share – basic ($/share) (1)	 (0.01)	 (0.28)	 (0.13)	 (1.73)	 (2.15)

Earnings per share – diluted ($/share) (1)	 (0.01)	 (0.28)	 (0.13)	 (1.73)	 (2.15)

Cash flow from operating activities (2)	 58.9	 61.9	 43.4	 28.1	 192.3

(1)	 Attributable to shareholders of the Company.
(2)	 Before changes in non-cash working capital.

REVIEW OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the quarter was $32.5 million ($0.05 per share) as compared to a loss for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2015 of $1,238.0 million ($1.73 per share). Adjusted earnings were $2.9 million as compared to 2015 adjusted loss of $19.3 million. 
The main factors that impacted adjusted earnings for the fourth quarter year over year were lower sales volumes partly offset by higher gold 
prices. During the fourth quarter of 2015 the Company recorded an impairment charge attributable to shareholders of the Company, net of taxes, 
of $1,249.6 million mainly related to its Skouries project.
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Operations Review and Outlook

GOLD OPERATIONS

	 2016		  2015		  2017 Outlook

Continuing Operations

Kişladağ	  	  	  

Ounces produced	 211,161		  281,280	 230,000–245,000

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 474		  543		  500–550

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 488		  558		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 39.8		  30.6		  45.0

Efemçukuru	  	  	  

Ounces produced	 98,364		  100,482	 95,000–105,000

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 514		  521		  525–575

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 530		  540		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 23.5		  24.1		  25.0

Olympias	  	  	  

Ounces produced  (1)	 2,774		  16,396		  40,000–50,000

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions) (2)	 n/a		  n/a		  n/a

Subtotal: Continuing Operations			 

Ounces produced	 312,299		  398,158	 365,000–400,000

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 487		  537		  485–535

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 502		  554		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 63.3		  54.7		  70.0

Discontinued Operations

Tanjianshan			    

Ounces produced	 49,266		  97,563		  n/a

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 819		  473		  n/a

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 970		  646		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 2.1		  14.7		  n/a

Jinfeng			    

Ounces produced	 68,195		  149,655		  n/a

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 705		  587		  n/a

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 791		  669		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 6.7		  10.0		  n/a

White Mountain			    

Ounces produced	 56,265		  78,156		  n/a

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 731		  653		  n/a

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 773		  691		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 9.9		  15.5		  n/a

Total Including Discontinued Operations:			 

Ounces produced	 486,025		  723,532	 365,000–400,000

Cash operating costs ($/oz)	 579		  552		  485–535

Total cash cost ($/oz)	 621		  606		  n/a

Sustaining capital expenditure ($ millions)	 82.0		  94.9		  70.0

(1)	 Includes production from tailings retreatment in 2015 and 2016.
(2)	 Planned 2017 construction and development capital spending of $30.0 million at Olympias.
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Annual Review – Operations

KIŞLADAĞ
Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes placed on pad				    16,565,254	 19,146,685

Average treated head grade (g/t Au)				    0.80	 0.70

Gold (oz)		

–	 Produced				    211,161	 281,280

–	 Sold				    211,284	 280,892

Cash operating costs ($/oz)				    474	 543

Total cash costs ($/oz)				    488	 558

Financial Data ($ millions)		

Gold revenues				    263.2	 326.5

Depreciation and depletion				    39.5	 46.5

Gross profit from mining operations				    120.5	 121.2

Sustaining capital expenditures				    39.8	 30.6

Gold production at Kişladağ was lower year over year mainly due to a substantial buildup of leach pad inventory during 2016 resulting from higher 
leach pad lifts and slower leaching in comparison to 2015. In the fourth quarter, additional sets of carbon columns were placed into production, which 
contributed to a draw-down in leach pad inventory in the final two months of the year. Year over year, fewer ore tonnes were placed on the leach pad at a 
higher head grade due to the phasing out of run-of-mine ore. Cash operating costs were lower year over year as a result of the higher head grade. Capital 
expenditures included capitalized waste stripping, leach pad construction, equipment overhauls and various process improvements.  

EFEMÇUKURU

Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes milled				    476,528	 454,863

Average treated head grade (g/t Au)				    7.40	 7.82

Average recovery rate (to concentrate) (%)				    92.2	 91.7

Gold (oz)		

–	 Produced				    98,364	 100,482

–	 Sold				    99,744	 99,147

Cash operating costs ($/oz)				    514	 521

Total cash costs ($/oz)				    530	 540

Financial Data ($ millions)		

Gold revenues				    125.4	 113.5

Depreciation and depletion				    34.2	 30.3

Gross profit from mining operations				    38.2	 28.0

Sustaining capital expenditures				    23.5	 24.1

Gold production at Efemçukuru was consistent year over year as higher milled tonnes and recoveries compensated for lower average treated head grade. 
Lower cash operating costs were the result of continued cost reduction initiatives. Capital spending included costs related to capitalized underground 
development and tailings dam expansion.
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TANJIANSHAN

Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes milled				    869,964	 1,060,176

Average treated head grade (g/t Au)				    1.90	 3.14

Average recovery rate (%)				    78.5	 82.4

Gold (oz)		

–	 Produced				    49,266	 97,563

–	 Sold				    49,266	 97,563

Cash operating costs ($/oz)				    819	 473

Total cash costs ($/oz)				    970	 646

Financial Data ($ millions)		

Gold revenues				    62.2	 115.5

Depreciation and depletion				    1.3	 25.3

Gross profit from mining operations				    3.6	 26.8

Sustaining capital expenditures				    2.1	 14.7

The table above reflects operations through November 22, 2016, the date of sale of Tanjianshan. Gold production at Tanjianshan was lower year over year 
mainly due to lower grade and tonnage from the JLG pit as well as an extended mill shutdown for repairs during the third quarter. Cash operating costs 
per ounce were higher year over year mainly due to lower production and head grade. Capital expenditures included resource drilling and development 
of the Qinlongtan deep decline.

JINFENG

Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes milled				    766,697	 1,303,863

Average treated head grade (g/t Au)				    3.32	 4.13

Average recovery rate (%)				    83.2	 86.2

Gold (oz)		

–	 Produced				    68,195	 149,655

–	 Sold				    66,902	 149,552

Cash operating costs ($/oz)				    705	 587

Total cash costs ($/oz)				    791	 669

Financial Data ($ millions)		

Gold revenues				    84.3	 176.6

Depreciation and depletion				    8.8	 37.2

Gross profit from mining operations				    22.5	 39.3

Sustaining capital expenditures				    6.7	 10.0

The table above reflects operations through September 6, 2016, the date of sale of Jinfeng. Jinfeng performed within expectations up to the date 
of sale. The impact of the completion of open pit mining in the second quarter of 2015 resulted in lower tonnages, grades and higher cash operating 
costs in 2016.
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WHITE MOUNTAIN

Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes milled				    717,145	 849,335

Average treated head grade (g/t Au)				    2.78	 3.30

Average recovery rate (%)				    86.1	 86.5

Gold (oz)		

–	 Produced				    56,265	 78,156

–	 Sold				    56,265	 78,156

Cash operating costs ($/oz)				    731	 653

Total cash costs ($/oz)				    773	 691

Financial Data ($ millions)		

Gold revenues				    70.8	 91.6

Depreciation and depletion				    8.8	 27.0

Gross profit from mining operations				    18.6	 10.5

Sustaining capital expenditures				    9.9	 15.5

The table above reflects operations through November 22, 2016, the date of sale of White Mountain. Aside from the shorter year, gold production 
at White Mountain was lower year over year due to lower average treated head grade. 

STRATONI

Operating Data				    2016	 2015

Tonnes ore processed (dry)				    184,963	 154,992

Pb grade (%)				    6.1	 6.5

Zn grade (%)				    10.2	 8.5

Tonnes of concentrate produced				    48,394	 40,232

Tonnes of concentrate sold				    42,655	 46,502

Average realized concentrate price ($/tonne)				    953 (1)	 771(1)

Cash costs ($/tonne of concentrate sold)				    804	 774

Financial Data ($ millions)	  	  

Concentrate revenues				    40.6	 35.9

Depreciation and depletion				    –	 8.6

Gross profit (loss) from mining operations				    5.6	 (12.5)

Sustaining capital expenditures				    3.2	 3.2

(1) 	 Average realized price includes mark to market adjustments.

Concentrate tonnes produced at Stratoni were higher year over year due to increased mill throughput and higher zinc grade. Increased mill throughput 
was mainly due to fewer days lost to work stoppages. Average realized price for concentrate increased year over year mainly due to an increase in zinc 
prices. Gross profit from mining operations increased as a result of the increase in production and prices. In addition, as a result of the impairment of 
Stratoni in 2015, no depreciation and depletion expense was recorded in 2016. Concentrate tonnes sold were lower year over year due to weather-related 
shipping delays at year end. Capital expenditures included underground mine development related to resource evaluation activities and new equipment for 
the analytical laboratory. 

VILA NOVA

Vila Nova remained on care and maintenance during 2016.
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Annual Review – Development Projects

OLYMPIAS

Olympias retreated 87,350 tonnes of tailings during the first quarter of 2016 at a grade of 2.47 grams per tonne, and produced 2,774 ounces of gold in 
concentrate. Tailings retreatment ended in February 2016 and construction of the Phase 2 plant began. Completion and commissioning of the Phase 2 
plant is projected to be in the first quarter of 2017. 

Underground mine development and access rehabilitation continued at Olympias in 2016 in readiness for commencement of underground ore 
production scheduled for the first quarter 2017. A total of 3,680 metres of development and rehabilitation was completed during the year together with 
21,400 metres of orebody definition drilling. 

Construction of the initial stage of the new Kokkinolakas tailings management facility (“TMF”) advanced substantially, and commissioning is expected 
by mid-2017. Capital costs totalled $132.1 million, consisting of mine construction, Phase 2 plant construction, Kokkinolakas TMF construction and 
capitalized cost for tailings retreatment.

SKOURIES

Due to delays with the issuance of routine permits and licences by the Greek permitting authorities, the Company suspended the development at Skouries 
in early 2016. The majority of construction works were on hold during the first half of the year while environmental protection works and care and 
maintenance activities continued.

On May 9, 2016, the Company received approval of the updated revised Technical Study. The construction team was remobilized in June and development 
ramped up over the following months. A total of $43.5 million was spent at Skouries, excluding capitalized exploration and capitalized interest.

Following internal reviews and engineering studies a decision was made to convert waste management at Skouries from paste to dry stack tailings. 
This decision facilitates mining of higher-value underground ore, and significantly reduces the site’s environmental footprint. Engineering design work 
was initiated for a single integrated waste management facility and associated filtration plant during mid-2016; the basic engineering for the revised 
scope progressed during the final quarter of 2016, with detailed engineering expected to start early in 2017. During 2016, work was also completed 
on the pre-feasibility study for the Skouries underground mine design; feasibility-level engineering is scheduled to be developed in 2017.

TOCANTINZINHO

The Company applied for installation licences for the site, road, and power line and initiated basic engineering for Tocantinzinho during 2016. Capital 
costs incurred at Tocantinzinho totalled $6.0 million for engineering, permitting, land agreements, mobile equipment and site works including minor camp 
infrastructure and access road improvements. Completion of basic engineering for the site and detailed engineering for some infrastructure is expected to 
be completed in 2017 leading to a construction decision and advancement of permitting. 

CERTEJ

Engineering work continued during 2016 at Certej on metallurgical test work and trade-off studies with a focus on further optimizations to improve the 
project and increase the level of engineering confidence. Work continued on amendments to the existing environmental permits to reflect the proposed 
changes, and such work will continue to be the focus of efforts in 2017. A total of $11.6 million was spent on Certej, mainly on geotechnical and 
metallurgical testing, site preparation and engineering studies. 

PERAMA HILL

Perama Hill remains on care and maintenance pending receipt of the necessary permits.
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Annual Review – Exploration

A total of $26.2 million was spent on exploration and evaluation programs in 2016. Exploration drilling totalled 51,000 metres and was 
conducted at 16 projects including early-stage, brownfields and in-mine programs in Turkey, Brazil, Greece, Serbia and Romania.

TURKEY

At Efemçukuru, surface drilling programs tested extensions to previously defined mineralized zones within the Kokarpinar vein system. Greenfields 
reconnaissance exploration programs evaluated grassroots targets in the eastern Pontide belt and associated with Cenozoic volcanic centres in 
western Turkey.

BRAZIL

In Brazil, option agreements were signed for the large Borborema and Nazareno licence areas. Mapping and geochemical sampling programs 
were conducted on both of these licence areas as well as at the Mara Rosa project. An initial drilling program was completed on the Vulture target 
at Borborema.

GREECE

Exploration in Greece included drilling programs at the Fisoka porphyry target and at the Rian prospect near the Skouries deposit. At Mavres Petres, 
an exploration crosscut was driven into the hangingwall of the Stratoni Fault, enabling systematic underground exploration and definition drilling of the 
untested down-dip and along-strike extensions to the orebody projected to begin in early 2017.

ROMANIA

In Romania, drilling was conducted at the Brad, Sacaramb, Certej North and Bolcana projects. At Sacaramb, drillholes targeted along-strike extensions of 
historically mined high-grade vein systems. Two holes tested deeper levels of the Bolcana porphyry system, and porphyry and epithermal targets peripheral 
to the Bolcana system were tested on the adjacent Certej North licence.

SERBIA

In Serbia, the Company completed acquisition of the KMC project from Euromax Resources Ltd. and acquired five new early-stage licences. Drilling at KMC 
tested the Copper Canyon, Gravina and Shanac areas. A large gold-rich magnetite skarn system was identified at Shanac, and further drilling is scheduled 
to be performed in 2017.
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Non-IFRS Measures

Throughout this document we have provided measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, as well as some non-IFRS performance measures as additional 
information for investors who also use them to evaluate our performance. Since there is no standard method for calculating non-IFRS measures, they are 
not a reliable way to compare us against other companies. Non-IFRS measures should be used with other performance measures prepared in accordance 
with IFRS. We have defined our non-IFRS measures below and reconciled them with the IFRS measures we report.

Cash Operating Cost, Total Cash Cost
The table below reconciles cash operating cost and total cash cost to operating costs. We calculate costs according to the Gold Institute Standard. 

RECONCILIATION OF CASH OPERATING COSTS TO PRODUCTION COSTS FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

($ millions except for gold ounces sold and cost per ounce sold)				    2016	 2015

Production costs (from consolidated income statements)				    194.7	 252.1

Vila Nova and Stratoni production costs				    35.0	 38.1

Production costs – excluding Vila Nova and Stratoni				    159.7	 214.0

By-product credits and other adjustments				    (3.6)	 (3.5)

Total cash cost				    156.1	 210.5

Royalty expense and production taxes				    (4.7)	 (6.2)

Cash operating cost				    151.4	 204.3

Gold ounces sold 				    311,028	 380,039

Total cash cost per ounce				    502	 554

Cash operating cost per ounce				    487	 537

RECONCILIATION OF CASH OPERATING COSTS TO PRODUCTION COSTS INCLUDING DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

($ millions except for gold ounces sold and cost per ounce sold)				    2016	 2015

Production costs – excluding Vila Nova and Stratoni				    159.7	 214.0

Production costs – discontinued operations				    144.6	 217.7

Production costs – including discontinued operations				    304.3	 431.7

By-product credits and other adjustments				    (4.2)	 (4.2)

Total cash cost – including discontinued operations				    300.1	 427.5

Royalty expense and production taxes				    (20.3)	 (38.2)

Cash operating cost – including discontinued operations				    279.8	 389.3

Gold ounces sold – including discontinued operations				    483,261	 705,310

Total cash cost per ounce sold – including discontinued operations				    621	 606

Cash operating cost per ounce sold – including discontinued operations				    579	 552

All-in Sustaining Cash Cost
All-in sustaining costs are calculated by taking total cash costs and adding sustaining capital expenditures, corporate administrative expenses, exploration 
and evaluation costs, and reclamation cost accretion. Sustaining capital expenditures are defined as those expenditures which do not increase annual 
gold ounce production at a mine site, and exclude all expenditures at the Company’s projects. Certain other cash expenditures, including tax payments, 
dividends and financing costs are also not included. The Company believes that this measure represents the total costs of producing gold from current 
operations, and provides the Company and other stakeholders of the Company with additional information of the Company’s operational performance 
and ability to generate cash flows. The Company reports this measure on a gold ounces sold basis.
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CALCULATION OF ALL-IN SUSTAINING CASH COSTS INCLUDING DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

($ millions, except for gold ounces sold, total cash cost and all-in sustaining cash cost per ounce sold)		  2016	 2015

Total cash cost – including discontinued operations				    300.1	 427.5

Sustaining capital spending at operating gold mines				    82.0	 94.9

Exploration spending at operating gold mines				    5.0	 10.4

General and administrative expenses (1)				    48.0	 61.4

All-in sustaining cash costs – including discontinued operations				    435.1	 594.2

Gold ounces sold – including discontinued operations				    483,461	 705,310

All-in sustaining cash cost per ounce sold – including discontinued operations				    900	 842

(1)	 Excludes G&A expenses related to business development activities and projects. Includes share based payments expense and defined benefit pension plan expense as well as asset retirement obligation 
accretion expense.

Cash Flow from Operations before Changes in Non-cash Working Capital
We use cash flow from operations (or operating activities) before changes in non-cash working capital to supplement our consolidated financial 
statements, and calculate it by not including the period to period movement of non-cash working capital items, like accounts receivable, advances and 
deposits, inventory, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. We believe this provides an alternative indication of our cash flow from operations and 
may be meaningful to investors in evaluating our past performance or future prospects. It is not meant to be a substitute for cash flow from operations 
(or operating activities), which we calculate according to IFRS.

Adjusted Net Earnings
The Company has included non-IFRS performance measures, adjusted net earnings and adjusted net earnings per share, throughout this document. 
Adjusted net earnings excludes gains/losses and other costs incurred for acquisitions and disposals of mining interests, impairment charges, unrealized and 
non-cash realized gains/losses of financial instruments and foreign exchange impacts on deferred income tax. The Company also excludes net earnings and 
losses of certain associates that the Company does not view as part of the core mining operations. The Company excludes these items from net earnings 
to provide a measure which allows the Company and investors to evaluate the results of the underlying core operations of the Company and its ability to 
generate cash flow. Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures 
of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The following table provides a reconciliation of adjusted net earnings to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31:

RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED NET EARNINGS TO CONSOLIDATED NET EARNINGS (LOSS)

($ millions, except for weighted average shares and earnings per share)		  	 	 2016	 2015

Net (loss) earnings attributable to shareholders				    (344.2)	 (1,540.9)

Loss on disposition of subsidiary, net of taxes				    351.2	 –

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment, net of tax				    –	 1,423.0

Write-down of assets net of tax				    4.5	 28.5

Loss on disposal of assets				    2.1	 0.2

Losses (gains) on available-for-sale securities				    3.6	 –

Impact of change in Greek income tax rate				    –	 60.4

Transaction costs related to sale of Chinese assets				    13.0	 3.1

Unrealized losses (gains) on foreign exchange translation of deferred income tax balances			   17.2	 38.9

Total adjusted net earnings (loss)				    47.4	 13.2

Weighted average shares outstanding				    716,587	 716,586

Adjusted net earnings ($/share)				    0.07	 0.02

Gross Profit from Gold Mining Operations
Gross profit from gold mining operations represents gross revenues from gold mining operations less production costs and depreciation, 
depletion and amortization related to those operations.  
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Financial Condition & Liquidity

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital (including discontinued operations) generated $142.0 million in cash in 2016, compared 
to $192.3 million in 2015.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

The Company invested $320.3 million in capital expenditures this year including discontinued operations. Evaluation and development expenditures, 
including capitalized drilling programs and Olympias tailings retreatment, totalled $199.5 million while sustaining capital spending at our producing mines 
totalled $85.2 million ($82.0 million at our producing gold mines and $3.2 million at Stratoni). We also spent $3.4 million on land acquisitions in Turkey 
and Romania. A total of $31.7 million in bond interest was also charged to capital projects. The remaining $0.5 million related to fixed assets for our 
corporate offices in Canada, Brazil, Turkey, Greece and Romania. In addition, cash proceeds of $3.7 million related to gold concentrate sales proceeds from 
tailings retreatment were recorded as cash flows from investing activities.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The Company drew down $70.0 million on its revolving credit facility during the year. This amount was fully repaid as at October 6, 2016.

Capital Resources

($ millions)				    2016	 2015

Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits				    888.5	 292.6

Working capital				    1,001.5	 335.4

Restricted collateralized accounts				    0.2	 0.2

Debt – current and long-term				    591.6	 589.4

Management believes that the working capital at December 31, 2016, together with future cash flows from operations and, where appropriate, selected 
financing sources, including available credit lines, are sufficient to support our planned and foreseeable commitments, and dividends, if declared, in 2017 
and beyond.  

Contractual Obligations
As at December 31, 2016

($ millions)	 Within 1 year	 2 to 3 years	 4 to 5 years	 Over 5 years	 Total

Debt	 –	 –	 600.0	 –	 600.0

Capital leases	 0.7	 0.5	 0.4	 –	 1.6

Operating leases	 13.2	 5.9	 3.5	 4.7	 27.3

Purchase obligations	 73.2	 1.0	 0.2	 –	 74.4

Totals	 87.1	 7.4	 604.1	 4.7	 703.3

Purchase obligations relate primarily to mine development expenditures in Greece and mine operating costs in Turkey. The table does not include 
interest on debt.
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As at December 31, 2016, Hellas Gold (“Hellas”) had entered into off-take agreements pursuant to which Hellas agreed to sell a total of 65,000 dry metric 
tonnes of zinc concentrates, 15,000 dry metric tonnes of lead/silver concentrates, and 18,000 dry metric tonnes of gold concentrate through the financial 
year ending December 31, 2017.

In April 2007, Hellas agreed to sell to Silver Wheaton (Caymans) Ltd. (“Silver Wheaton”) all of the payable silver contained in lead concentrate produced within 
an area of approximately 7 km2 around Stratoni. The sale was made in consideration of a pre-payment to Hellas of $57.5 million in cash, plus a fixed price 
per ounce of payable silver to be delivered of the lesser of $3.90 and the prevailing market price per ounce, adjusted higher every April by 1%. For the period 
April 2016 through March 2017, this amount is equal to $4.14 per ounce. In October 2015 the agreement with Silver Wheaton was amended to provide an 
increase in the price per ounce of payable silver to be delivered to Hellas based on Hellas achieving certain exploration drilling milestones.

In May 2013, the Company, in connection with Hellas Gold, entered into a Letter of Guarantee in favour of the Greek Ministry of Environment, Energy and 
Climate Change, in the amount of €50.0 million, as security for the due and proper performance of rehabilitation works committed in connection with the 
Environmental Impact Assessment approved for the Kassandra Mines (Stratoni, Olympias and Skouries). The Letter of Guarantee is renewed annually and 
expires on July 26, 2026. The Letter of Guarantee has an annual fee of 57 basis points. 

As at December 31, 2016, Tüprag Metal Madencilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret A.S. (“Tüprag”) had entered into off-take agreements pursuant to which Tüprag 
agreed to sell a total of 45,000 dry metric tonnes of gold concentrate through the financial year ending December 31, 2017.

Debt

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

In November 2012, the Company entered into a $375.0 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks (“the credit facility”). The credit facility was 
due to mature on November 23, 2016.

In June 2016, the Company amended and restated the existing revolving credit agreement (“the amended and restated credit agreement” or “ARCA”) and 
reduced the available credit to $250.0 million with the option to increase by an additional $100.0 million through an accordion feature. The maturity date was 
also extended to June 13, 2020. The ARCA continues to be secured by the shares of SG Resources and Tüprag, wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The ARCA contains covenants that restrict, among other things, the ability of the Company to incur aggregate unsecured indebtedness exceeding 
$850.0 million, incur secured indebtedness exceeding $200.0 million and permitted unsecured indebtedness exceeding $150.0 million. The ARCA also 
contains restrictions for making distributions in certain circumstances, selling material assets and conducting business other than that which relates to the 
mining industry. Significant financial covenants include a maximum Net Debt to Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) 
of 3.5:1 and a minimum EBITDA to Interest of 3:1. The Company is in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2016.

Loan interest is variable dependent on a Net Leverage ratio pricing grid. The Company’s current net leverage ratio is approximately -1.9:1. At this ratio, interest 
charges and fees are as follows: LIBOR plus margin of 2.0% and undrawn standby fee of 0.50%. Fees of $2.0 million were paid on the amendment dated 
June 2016. This amount has been deferred as pre-payment for liquidity services and is being amortized to financing costs over the term of the credit facility. 
As at December 31, 2016, the pre paid loan cost on the balance sheet was $1.8 million.

No amounts were drawn down under the ARCA as at December 31, 2016.

SENIOR NOTES

On December 10, 2012, the Company completed an offering of $600.0 million senior notes (“the notes”) at par value, with a coupon rate of 6.125% 
due December 15, 2020. The notes pay interest semi-annually on June 15 and December 15. The Company received proceeds of $589.5 million from the 
offering, which is net of the commission payment. The notes are redeemable by the Company in whole or in part, for cash:

a)	 at any time prior to December 15, 2016 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes at the treasury yield plus 
50 basis points, and any accrued and unpaid interest; and

b)	 on and after the dates provided below, at the redemption prices, expressed as a percentage of principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, set forth 
below, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the notes:

	 December 15, 2016	 103.063%
	 December 15, 2017	 101.531%
	 2018 and thereafter	 100.000%

The early pre-payment prices are to reimburse the lender for lost interest for the remaining term. The fair market value of the notes as at 
December 31, 2016 is $609.0 million.  
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Defined Benefit Plans

The Company operates defined benefit pension plans in Canada with two components: a registered pension plan (“the Canadian Pension Plan”) and 
a supplementary pension plan (“the SERP”). During the second quarter of 2012, the SERP was converted into a Retirement Compensation Arrangement 
(“RCA”), a trust account. As it is a trust account, the assets in the account are protected from the Company’s creditors. The RCA requires the Company 
to remit 50% of any contributions and any realized investment gains to the Receiver General of Canada as refundable tax.

These plans, which are only available to certain qualifying employees, provide benefits based on an employee’s years of service and final average earnings 
at retirement. Annual contributions related to these plans are actuarially determined and made at or in excess of minimum requirements prescribed 
by legislation.

Eldorado’s plans have actuarial valuations performed for funding purposes. The Canadian Pension Plan last had an actuarial valuation performed as of 
January 1, 2014 for funding purposes with the next required valuation as of January 1, 2017. The SERP’s last valuation was on January 1, 2016 for funding 
purposes and the next valuation will be prepared in accordance with the terms of the pension plan. The measurement date to determine the pension 
obligation and assets for accounting purposes was December 31, 2016.

The SERP is designed to provide supplementary pension benefits to qualifying employees affected by the maximum pension limits under the Income Tax 
Act pursuant to the registered Canadian Pension Plan. Further, the Company is not required to pre-fund any benefit obligation under the SERP.

Cash contributed to the Canadian Pension Plan and the SERP was $1.7 million (2015 – $2.8 million). Cash payments totalling $0.5 million were made 
directly to beneficiaries during the year (2015 – $0.1 million). The Company expects to contribute $0.1 million to the Canadian Pension Plan and 
$1.1 million to the SERP in 2017.

Equity

Common Shares Outstanding 
– as of February 23, 2017					     716,587,134

– as of December 31, 2016					     716,587,134

Share purchase options – as of February 23, 2017					     34,047,084
(Weighted average exercise price per share: CDN$7.04)

Managing Risk

This section describes the types of risks we are exposed to and our objectives and policies for managing them (please read the Company’s AIF for 
additional information).

We monitor risk using our risk management review process. Management prepares a risk assessment report every quarter outlining our operational and 
financial risks. The Board reviews the report to evaluate and assess the risks we are exposed to in various markets, and discusses the steps management 
takes to manage and mitigate them. 
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FINANCIAL RISK

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that we cannot meet our financial obligations. The Company mitigates liquidity risk through the implementation of its capital 
management policy by spreading the maturity dates of investments over time, managing its capital expenditures and operational cash flows, and 
maintaining adequate lines of credit. We use a rigorous planning, budgeting and forecasting process to help determine the funds we will need to support 
our ongoing operations and our expansion plans. Management believes that the working capital at December 31, 2016, together with future cash 
flows from operations and, where appropriate, selected financing sources, is sufficient to support our planned and foreseeable commitments in 2017 
and beyond.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will not meet its obligations and will cause the Company to incur a financial loss. 
The Company limits counterparty risk by entering into business arrangements with high-credit-quality counterparties, limiting the amount of exposure to 
each counterparty and monitoring the financial condition of counterparties. For cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable, credit risk is represented 
by the carrying amount on the balance sheet. Payment for metal sales is normally in advance or within 15 days of shipment depending on the buyer. The 
historical level of customer defaults is negligible which reduces the credit risk associated with trade receivables at December 31, 2016. 

We invest our cash and cash equivalents in major financial institutions and in government issuances, according to our short-term investment policy. 
The credit risk associated with these investments is considered to be low. As at December 31, 2016, we hold a significant amount of cash and cash 
equivalents with two financial institutions.

Currency Risk
We sell gold in U.S. dollars, but our costs are mainly in U.S. dollars, Canadian dollars, Turkish lira, Brazilian real, euros and Romanian lei. An increase 
in the value of any of these currencies against the U.S. dollar can increase our production costs and capital expenditures, which can affect future cash 
flows. The Company has a risk management policy that includes hedging its foreign exchange exposure to reduce the risk associated with currency 
fluctuations. The Company currently does not have any currency hedges, but may hedge in the future.

The table below shows our assets and liabilities and debt denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar at December 31, 2016. We recognized 
a loss of $2.7 million on foreign exchange this year, compared to a loss of $15.0 million in 2015.

	 Canadian	 Australian		  Turkish	 Chinese	 Swedish	 Romanian	 British	 Brazilian 
(thousands)	 dollar	 dollar 	 Euro	 lira	 renminbi	 krona	 lei	 pound	 real

Cash and cash equivalents	 7,985	 461	 25,743	 2,423	 11,799	 1,774	 11,147	 217	 22,035

Marketable securities	 38,036	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –

Accounts receivable  
and other	 1,694	 4	 19,045	 41,600	 3,052	 –	 6,756	 –	 8,350

Accounts payable and

	 accrued liabilities	 (13,211)	 (663)	 (39,138)	 (38,043)	 (10,239)	 –	 (6,085)	 –	 (5,505)

Other non-current liabilities	 –	 –	 (5,596)	 (14,741)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –

Net balance	 34,504	 (198)	 54	 (8,761)	 4,612	 1,774	 11,818	 217	 24,880

Equivalent in US dollars	 25,697	 (143)	 57	 (2,489)	 665	 195	 2,746	 268	 7,634

Accounts receivable and other current and long-term assets relate to goods and services taxes, income taxes, value-added taxes and insurance receivables. 
Based on the balances at December 31, 2016, a 10% increase/decrease in the exchange rates on that date would have resulted in a decrease/increase of 
approximately $3.5 million in profit before taxes.
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest rates determine how much interest we pay on our debt, and how much we earn on our cash and cash equivalents, which can affect future 
cash flows.

All of our debt is in the form of notes with a fixed interest rate of 6.125%. However, borrowings under the ARCA are at variable rates of interest and any 
borrowings would expose the Company to interest rate cost and interest rate risk. In the future we may enter into interest rate swaps that involve the 
exchange of floating for fixed-rate interest payments in order to reduce interest rate volatility.  

Price Risk
Our profitability depends on the price of gold, which can fluctuate widely, and is affected by many factors beyond our control, including the sale or 
purchase of gold by central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar 
and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, speculative actions, and the political and economic conditions of the world’s major 
gold-producing countries. The cost of production, development and exploration varies depending on the market prices of certain mining consumables, 
including diesel fuel and electricity. Electricity is regionally priced in Turkey and semi-regulated by the Turkish government, which reduces the risk of price 
fluctuations. The Company currently does not have any long-term gold hedges or other commodity hedges, but we may hedge in the future.

Sensitivity Analysis for Key Variables
			   Would change our 
		  A change of	 after-tax net earnings by 

Currency values against the US dollar		  10% 	 $3.5 million

Price of gold (based on the expectations and assumptions we used in our 2017 outlook)	 10%	 $34.4 million

Interest rate on variable interest debt 		  10%	 n/a (1)

Price of diesel fuel		  10%	 $1.5 million

(1)	 The Company did not have any variable interest debt outstanding at the end of 2016.

OTHER RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In addition to the financial risks identified above, we face a number of other risks and uncertainties. Certain key risks are set out below.

Geopolitical Climate 
We operate in five countries outside of North America: Turkey, Brazil, Romania, Serbia and Greece. Our operations in these countries may be subject to 
political, economic and other risks that may affect our future operations and financial position.

We review these and other risks related to the business in foreign countries on an ongoing basis. Such reviews may cause us to re-evaluate and realign our 
business objectives and strategic direction from time to time, including considering suspension of projects or disposition of certain assets.

Mineral Tenure and Permits
Acquiring title to mineral properties is a detailed and time-consuming process. We take steps, in accordance with industry standards, to verify and secure 
legal title to mineral properties that we have, or are seeking, an interest in. Although we take every precaution to ensure that legal title to our properties 
is properly recorded in our name, there can be no assurance we will ultimately secure title on every property. Legal title to our properties depends on the 
laws in the countries we operate in, and their appropriate and consistent application.

Activities in the nature of our business and operations can only be conducted pursuant to a wide range of permits and licences obtained or renewed 
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate. The duration and success of each permitting process are 
contingent upon many factors that we do not control. In the case of foreign operations, granting of government approvals, permits and licences is, as a 
practical matter, subject to the discretion of the applicable governments or government officials.

There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain or renew the permits we need to conduct our business and operations, in a timely manner, or at 
all, or that we will be in a position to comply with all conditions that are imposed. The failure to obtain or renew certain permits, or the imposition of 
extensive conditions upon certain permits, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and share price.
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Metal Price Volatility 
The profitability of our operations is significantly affected by changes in gold and other metal prices. Gold and metal prices can fluctuate widely and are 
influenced by many factors as noted above, beyond our control. If metal prices decline significantly, or decline for an extended period of time, we might 
not be able to continue our operations, develop our properties, or fulfill our obligations under our permits and licences, or under our agreements with our 
partners. This could result in losing our interest in some or all of our properties, or being forced to sell them, which could have a negative effect on our 
business, results of operations, financial condition and share price.

Development and Mining Operations
Substantial expenditures are required to build mining and processing facilities for new properties. The capital expenditures and time required to develop 
new mines are considerable and changes in cost or construction schedules can significantly increase both the time and capital required to build the project. 
The project development schedules are dependent on obtaining the governmental approvals necessary for the operation of a project, and the timeline to 
obtain these government approvals is often beyond our control. 

Mine development projects typically require a number of years and significant expenditures during the development phase before production is possible. 
It is not unusual in the mining industry for new mining operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up phase, resulting in delays and 
requiring more capital than anticipated. 

The business of gold mining involves many operational risks and hazards. We work to reduce the risks associated with our projects by setting high 
operational standards, hiring and training appropriately skilled personnel, and making improvements to our operations. We maintain adequate insurance 
to cover normal business risk. We rely on a number of key employees. Our success depends on attracting and retaining qualified personnel in a 
competitive labour environment.

The cost and results of our exploration and development programs affect our profitability and value. The life of a mine is fixed based on its mineral 
reserves, so we actively seek to replace and expand our reserves, mainly through exploration, acquisition and the development of our existing operations. 
Exploring for minerals involves many risks and may not lead to new economically viable mining operations or yield new reserves to replace and expand 
current reserves. Our reserve estimates are based on certain assumptions and affected by the inherent limitations of the estimation process.

Foreign Investment and Operations
Most of our activities and investments are in foreign countries including operations and/or exploration and development projects in Brazil, Greece, 
Romania, Serbia and Turkey.

These investments are subject to risks normally associated with conducting business in foreign countries. Some risks are more prevalent in less-developed 
countries or those with emerging economies, including:

●	 uncertain political and economic environments; 
●	 risks of war, regime changes and civil disturbances or other risks; 
●	 risk of adverse changes in laws or policies of particular countries, including government royalties and taxation; 
●	 delays in or the inability to obtain necessary government permits, approvals and consents;
●	 limitations on ownership and repatriation of earnings; 
●	 foreign exchange controls and currency devaluations; 
●	 import and export regulations, including restrictions on exporting gold; and 
●	 exposure to occupation of our project sites for political or other purposes.

In all jurisdictions where we operate, we are regarded as a foreign entity and consequently we may be subject to greater restrictions and requirements in 
these jurisdictions. The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and 
share price. 

We review these and other risks related to the business in foreign countries on an ongoing basis. Such reviews may cause us to re-evaluate and realign our 
business objectives and strategic direction from time to time, including considering suspension of projects or disposition of certain assets.

Environment
There may be environmental hazards at our mines or projects that we are unaware of. We may be liable for any associated losses, or be forced to do 
extensive remedial cleanup or pay for governmental remedial cleanup, even if the hazards were caused by previous or existing owners or operators of 
the property, past or present owners of adjacent properties or by natural conditions. The costs of any cleanup could have a material adverse effect on our 
operations and profitability.
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Laws, Regulations and Permits 
Our activities are subject to extensive federal, provincial, state and local laws and regulations governing environmental protection and employee health 
and safety. We must obtain government permits and provide associated financial assurance to conduct certain activities. We are also subject to various 
conditions related to reclamation that are imposed under federal, state or provincial air, water quality and mine reclamation rules and permits.

We have budgeted for future capital and operating expenditures to obtain such permits and maintain compliance with these environmental, health and 
safety laws; however, any changes to these laws in the future could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations and 
could delay our ability to obtain such permits.

If these laws are not complied with, we may face injunctions, damages and penalties, or our permits could be suspended or revoked. There is no assurance 
that we have been, or will be, in compliance with environmental, health and safety laws at all times, that our compliance will not be challenged, or that the 
cost of complying with current or future laws will not have a material and adverse effect on our future cash flow, results of operations and financial condition.

Litigation
All industries, including the mining industry, are subject to legal claims that are with and without merit. 

We are currently involved in various routine legal and regulatory proceedings. It’s unlikely that the final outcome of these routine proceedings will have a 
material and adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations; however, defense and settlement costs can be substantial, even for claims 
that are without merit. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the litigation process and dealings with regulatory bodies, there is no assurance that any legal 
or regulatory proceeding will be resolved in a manner that will not have a material and adverse effect on our future cash flow, results of operations or 
financial condition.

These are not the only risks that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and share 
price, and other risks may become more material to the Company in the future or the above risks could diminish in importance, depending 
on the current circumstances of our business and operations. 

You should carefully review each of the risk factors set out in our most recently filed AIF, which risk factors provide a detailed discussion of 
the foregoing risks as well as a detailed discussion of other relevant risks. The discussion under “Risk Factors in our Business” in our most 
recent AIF, filed on SEDAR under our Company name, is incorporated by reference in this document.

Other Information 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We are required to make estimates that affect the amount of assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities revenue and expenses we report. We have identified 
the following critical accounting policies and estimates. You can find all of our significant accounting policies in Note 3 of our 2016 consolidated 
financial statements.

Inventories
We value finished goods (including metal concentrates, dore and iron ore), work-in-process, heap leach ore and stockpiled ore at the average production 
cost or its net realizable value – whichever is lower. 

We consider ore stacked on our leach pads and in process at our mines as work-in-process inventory and record their value in earnings, and include them 
in the cost of sales based on ounces of gold sold, using the following assumptions in our estimates:

●	 the amount of gold we estimate is in the ore stacked on the leach pads; 
●	 the amount of gold we expect to recover from the stacks;
●	 the amount of gold and other metals in the mill circuits;
●	 the amount of gold and other metals in concentrates; and 
●	 the gold and other metal prices we expect to realize when the gold and other metals is sold. 

If our estimates or assumptions are inaccurate, we could be required to write down the value we have recorded on our work-in-process inventories, which 
would reduce our earnings and working capital. At December 31, 2016, the average cost of inventory was below its net realizable value.
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Reserves and Resources
Our estimates for Kişladağ, Efemçukuru, Perama Hill, Tocantinzinho, Skouries, Olympias, Stratoni, Piavitsa, Sapes, Certej and Vila Nova are based on the 
definitions adopted by the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum, and in compliance with Canadian National Instrument 43-101 – 
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (NI 43-101), developed by the Canadian Securities Administrators.

You will not be able to compare the mineral reserve and resources information in this Report with similar information from U.S. companies. The United 
States Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC) defines a mineral reserve as the part of a mineral deposit that can be economically and legally extracted or 
produced. It does not recognize the terms measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources (mining terms under NI 43-101), and does not accept them 
in reports and registration statements. You should not assume that:

●	 the mineral reserves defined in this Report qualify as reserves under SEC standards;
●	 the measured and indicated mineral resources in this Report will ever be converted to reserves; and
●	 the inferred mineral resources in this Report are economically mineable, or will ever be upgraded to a higher category. 

Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Value Beyond Proven and Probable Reserves (“VBPP”)
On acquisition of a mineral property, we prepare an estimate of the fair value of the exploration potential of that property and record this amount as an 
asset, called value beyond proven and probable, as at the date of acquisition. As part of our annual business cycle, we prepare estimates of proven and 
probable reserves for each mineral property. The change in reserves, net of production, is used to determine the amount to be converted from VBPP to 
proven and probable reserves subject to amortization.

Property, Plant and Equipment
We depreciate most of our mining properties, plant and equipment using the unit-of-production method, where the value of property is reduced as 
reserves are depleted. We base this on mining rates and our estimates of reserves. If these change, we could be required to write down the recorded value 
of our mining properties, plant and equipment, or to increase the amount of future depreciation, depletion and amortization expense, both of which 
would reduce our earnings and net assets. 

At each reporting period if there are indicators of an impairment of property, plant and equipment we assess whether there has been impairment. In the 
event of impairment we would be required to write down the recorded value of our mining properties, plant and equipment, which would reduce our 
earnings and net assets. 

For producing properties, we base our assessment on the future net cash flows we expect the property will generate. There may be an impairment if metal 
prices have declined, production costs have increased, or metal recoveries are lower than previously estimated.

For non-producing properties, we base our assessment on whether there are factors that might indicate the need for a write-down. There may be an 
impairment if we believe current economics or permitting issues will prevent us from recovering the costs we have deferred for the property.

Goodwill and Impairment Testing
We account for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting. We record the fair market value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed as of the date of acquisition, and record any excess of the purchase price over fair value as goodwill. When the excess is negative it is recognized 
immediately in income. The assumptions underlying fair value estimates are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.

We review and evaluate the carrying amount of goodwill in the fourth quarter of every fiscal year, and when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. Management is required to make a judgement with respect to which CGU’s should be grouped 
together for goodwill testing purposes, including the assessment of operating segments, the highest level at which goodwill can be tested.

To test the recoverability of the carrying amount of goodwill we compare the fair value of our cash generating units (“CGU’s”) or operating segments 
to their carrying amounts. Calculating the estimated fair values of these CGU’s or operating segments requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions with respect to future production levels, operating and capital costs in our life-of-mine (“LOM”) plans, long-term metal prices, 
foreign exchange rates and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the fair values could impact the 
impairment analysis. If a CGU’s or operating segment’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, we compare its carrying value to the implied fair value 
of its goodwill, and charge the amount the carrying value exceeds fair value to operations.
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Asset Retirement Obligations
We estimate the mine closure date, the discount rate, the inflation rate and the timing reclamation costs to determine the carrying value of an asset 
retirement obligation.

Income Taxes
We record income taxes using income tax rates we expect to apply in the years we estimate the various temporary differences will be recovered or 
settled. Where the tax laws and regulations are unclear or subject to varying interpretations, these estimates could change, and materially affect the 
amount of income tax liabilities recorded at the balance sheet date.

Pension Plans
We use various actuarial assumptions to estimate our obligations and expenses, including a long-term estimate of the expected rate of return on plan 
assets, the discount rate, the rate of salary escalation and the average remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits. 

	 December 31, 2016		  December 31, 2015

Key assumptions – pension plans	 Pension Plan	 SERP		  Pension Plan	 SERP

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	 3.9%	 3.9%		  4.0%	 4.0%

Discount rate – beginning of year 	 3.9%	 3.9%		  4.0%	 4.0%

Discount rate – end of year 	 3.9%	 3.9%		  4.0%	 4.0%

Rate of salary escalation	 2.0%	 2.0%		  2.0%	 2.0%

Average remaining service period of active 	 7.1 years	 7.1 years		  8.5 years	 8.5 years 
employees expected to receive benefits	

Upcoming Changes in Accounting Standards

The following standards have been published and are mandatory for Eldorado’s annual accounting periods no earlier than January 1, 2018:

●	 IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ – In June 2016, the IASB issued final amendments to this standard. IFRS 2 clarifies the classification and measurement 
of share based payment transactions. These amendments deal with variations in the final settlement arrangements including: (a) accounting for 
cash-settled share based payment transactions that include a performance condition, (b) classification of share based payment transactions with net 
settlement features, and (c) accounting for modifications of share based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity. IFRS 2 is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact 
of the adoption of this standard.

●	 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ – This standard was published in July 2014 and replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new 
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward 
the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact of the new standard, particularly in 
the accounting of its long-term receivables and assets available-for-sale.

●	 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ – This standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches 
to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how 
much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgemental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing 
of revenue recognized. This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The 
Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact of the adoption of this standard as some of its gold sales are subject to pricing adjustments.

●	 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ – This standard was published in January 2016 and replaces the existing guidance in IAS 17, ‘Leases’. IFRS 16 introduces a single 
accounting model for lessees and for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee will be 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset, representing its right to use the underlying asset, and a lease liability, representing its obligation to make 
lease payments. The accounting treatment for lessors will remain largely the same as under IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. Although it is anticipated for all office building leases to come on balance sheet 
at the time of adoption, this is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. However, the Company 
continues its evaluation of other leases that might have an impact on its consolidated financial statements with the adoption of this standard.

There are other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been published and are not yet effective. The Company believes 
they will have no material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information is gathered and reported to senior 
management, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate to allow for timely decisions about 
public disclosure.	

Management, including the CEO and CFO, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as 
at December 31, 2016, as defined in the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian Securities Administrators. Based on this 
evaluation, they concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in providing reasonable assurance that the information required to 
be disclosed in reports we filed or submitted under U.S. and Canadian securities legislation was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within 
the time periods specified in those rules.

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management, including the CEO and CFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, and used 
the framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013) to evaluate the effectiveness of our controls 
in 2016. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2016 and 
provided a reasonable assurance of the reliability of our financial reporting and preparation of the financial statements.

No matter how well designed, however, any system of internal control has inherent limitations. Even systems determined to be effective can provide only 
reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial statement preparation and presentation.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and has expressed 
their opinion in their report included with our annual consolidated financial statements in Form 40-F.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

QUALIFIED PERSON

Except as otherwise noted, Paul Skayman, P. Eng., the Company’s Chief Operating Officer, is the Qualified Person under NI 43-101 who approved the 
scientific or technical information contained in this MD&A and has verified the technical data disclosed in this document.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND RISKS

This MD&A includes statements and information about what we expect to happen in the future. When we discuss our strategy, plans, outlook, and 
future financial and operating performance, price of gold and other commodities, cash costs targets, production and expenditures, our mineral reserve 
and resource estimates, our proposed exploration, development and acquisitions, our expectations as to future performance at our mines, or other things 
that have not yet happened in this review, we are making statements considered to be forward-looking information or forward-looking statements under 
Canadian and United States securities laws. We refer to them in this document as forward-looking information.

Key things to understand about the forward-looking information in this document:

●	 It typically includes words and phrases about the future, such as: plan, expect, forecast, intend, anticipate, believe, estimate, budget, continue, 
projected, scheduled, may, could, would, might, will, as well as the negative of these words and phrases.

●	 Although it represents our current views, which we consider to be reasonable, we can give no assurance that the forward-looking information will 
prove to be accurate.

●	 It is based on a number of assumptions, estimates and opinions including things like the future price of gold and other commodities, the political, 
economic, permitting and legal environment in which we operate, currency exchange rates, anticipated costs and spending, production, mineral 
reserve and resource estimates and metallurgical recoveries, impact of acquisitions, dispositions, suspensions or delays on our business and our ability 
to achieve our goals.

●	 It is also subject to the risks associated with our business, including:
	 ●	 volatility of global and local economic climate and geopolitical risk;
	 ●	 title, permitting and licensing risks;
	 ●	 gold and other metal price and currency volatility and the impact of any hedging activities; 
	 ●	 risks associated with mining operations and development;
	 ●	 risks of operating in foreign countries; 
	 ●	 regulatory risks;
	 ●	 actual and estimated production and cost of production;
	 ●	 discrepancies between actual and estimated mineral reserves and resources;
	 ●	 the speculative nature of gold exploration;
	 ●	 acquisition risks; and 
	 ●	 other risks that are set out in our Annual Information Form.
 
If our assumptions prove to be incorrect or the risks materialize, our actual results and events may vary materially from what we currently expect.

Forward-looking information is designed to help you understand management’s current views of our near and longer-term prospects, and it may not be 
appropriate for other purposes. We will not necessarily update this information unless we are required to by securities laws.

The Company’s operations are subject to a number of risks and other uncertainties, including risks related to the Company’s foreign operations; 
government, environmental and other regulations; and operating costs. Occurrence of various factors and uncertainties of risk cannot be accurately 
predicted and could cause actual results to differ significantly from our current expectations and result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
operations or profitability. A comprehensive discussion of the Company’s risks and uncertainties is set out in our Annual Information Form dated 
March 30, 2016. By this reference we hereby incorporate this discussion as a part of this MD&A. The reader is directed to carefully review this discussion 
for a proper understanding of these risks and uncertainties.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Eldorado Gold Corporation is responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of the financial information contained in this annual 
report. Where appropriate, the financial information, including financial statements, reflects amounts based on management’s best estimates and 
judgements. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. Financial information presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that disclosed in the financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Management has established and 
maintains a system of internal accounting control designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use, 
financial information is reliable and accurate and transactions are properly recorded and executed in accordance with management’s authorization. 
This system includes established policies and procedures, the selection and training of qualified personnel and an organization providing for appropriate 
delegation of authority and segregation of responsibilities. Any system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has 
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation. 

Management has a process in place to evaluate internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that 
as at December 31, 2016, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibility for financial reporting and internal control systems through an Audit Committee, which 
is composed entirely of independent directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management, the Company’s outside advisors and the 
independent auditors to review the scope and results of the annual audit and to review the financial statements and related financial reporting and 
internal control matters before the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors and submitted to the Company’s shareholders.

KPMG, an independent registered public accounting firm, appointed by the shareholders, has audited the Company’s financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and has 
expressed their opinion in their report titled “Independent Auditors’ Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm”. The effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2016 has also been audited by KPMG, and their opinion is included in their report titled 
“Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.

	

	

Paul N. Wright	 Fabiana E. Chubbs
President & Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

February 23, 2017 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Eldorado Gold Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Eldorado Gold Corporation, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as 
at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the consolidated income statements, statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Eldorado Gold 
Corporation as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Other Matter
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Eldorado Gold Corporation’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 23, 2017 expressed an 
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Eldorado Gold Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting.

Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 23, 2017 
Vancouver, Canada
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Eldorado Gold Corporation 

We have audited Eldorado Gold Corporation’s (“the Company”)’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying report titled “Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting”. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Eldorado Gold Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance 
sheets of Eldorado Gold Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated income statements, statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and our report dated February 23, 2017 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 23, 2017 
Vancouver, Canada
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Assets

Current assets				  
Cash and cash equivalents	 6	   883,171  	  288,189 

	 Term deposits		   5,292  	  4,382 

	 Restricted cash 		    240 	  248 

	 Marketable securities 		   28,327  	 18,331 

	 Accounts receivable and other	 7	 54,315  	  85,468 

	 Inventories	 8	  120,830 	  175,626 

			    1,092,175  	  572,244 

Other assets	 10	  48,297 	  83,147 

Defined benefit pension plan	 16	  11,620 	  11,451 

Property, plant and equipment	 11	  3,645,827 	  4,747,759 

Goodwill	 12	  – 	  50,276 

			   4,797,919 	  5,464,877 

Liabilities & equity			 

Current liabilities				  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 13	  90,705 	  236,819  

			   90,705 	  236,819 

Debt	 14	  591,589 	  589,395 

Defined benefit pension plan	 16	 10,882 	  6,720 

Asset retirement obligations	 15	  89,778 	  102,636 

Deferred income tax liabilities	 17	  443,501 	  607,871 

			   1,226,455 	  1,543,441  

Equity			 

	 Share capital	 18	  2,819,101 	  5,319,101 

	 Treasury stock		  (7,794)	  (10,211)

	 Contributed surplus		  2,606,567 	  47,236  

	 Accumulated other comprehensive loss		  (7,172)	  (20,572)

	 Deficit		   (1,928,024)	 (1,583,873)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company		  3,482,678 	  3,751,681  

Attributable to non-controlling interests		  88,786  	  169,755 

			   3,571,464 	 3,921,436  

			   4,797,919 	 5,464,877

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

John Webster	 Paul N. Wright 
Director	 Director

Date of approval: February 23, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Revenue			   (restated)*

Metal sales		   432,727 	  479,079 

Cost of sales			 

Production costs	 26	  194,669 	  252,122 

Inventory write-down		  – 	  12,024 

Depreciation and amortization		  74,887 	  89,320 

			    269,556 	  353,466  

Gross profit		   163,171  	   125,613  

Exploration expenses		   18,773  	   16,328  

Mine standby costs		   16,140  	   10,244  

General and administrative expenses		   37,851  	   44,075  

Defined benefit pension plan expense	 16	   5,602  	   2,920  

Share based payments	 19	   10,559  	   15,877  

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and goodwill	 11, 12	   –  	   1,842,965  

Other write-down of assets		   4,529  	   10,064  

Foreign exchange loss		   2,708  	   15,044  

Operating profit (loss)		   67,009 	   (1,831,904) 

Loss on disposal of assets		   2,121  	   3  

Loss on marketable securities and other investments		   4,881  	   –  

Other income		   (243)	  (7,278)

Asset retirement obligation accretion	 15	  1,795  	   1,931  

Interest and financing costs	 27	   9,757  	   17,574  

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before income tax		   48,698 	  (1,844,134)

Income tax expense (recovery)	 17	  56,205 	  (221,390) 

Loss from continuing operations 		  (7,507)	 (1,622,744)

Loss from discontinued operations 	 5	 (339,369)	 (22,398)

Loss for the year		   (346,876)	  (1,645,142) 

Attributable to

Shareholders of the Company		   (344,151)	  (1,540,895) 

Non-controlling interests		   (2,725)	  (104,247) 

Loss for the year		   (346,876)	   (1,645,142) 

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company

Continuing operations		  (2,683)	 (1,512,435)

Discontinued operations		  (341,468)	 (28,460)

			   (344,151)	 (1,540,895)

	 Continued on next page
*See Note 5.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (thousands)	 28		

Basic		  716,587	 716,586

Diluted		  716,593	 716,590

Loss per share attributable to shareholders of the Company			 

Basic loss per share  		   (0.48)	  (2.15) 

Diluted loss per share		   (0.48)	  (2.15)

Loss per share attributable to shareholders of the Company  
– continuing operations			 

Basic loss per share 		   –	  (2.11) 

Diluted loss per share		   –	  (2.11)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Loss for the year		   (346,876)	   (1,645,142) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)			 

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, 		   9,687	  (2,232) 
net of income tax of $1,428 and $nil

Transfer of realized loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 		   4,901  	  – 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans	 16	  (1,188)	  (213)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year		   13,400 	  (2,445)

Total comprehensive loss for the year		   (333,476)	  (1,647,587) 

Attributable to			 

Shareholders of the Company		   (330,751)	  (1,543,340) 

Non-controlling interests		   (2,725)	  (104,247)

			    (333,476)	  (1,647,587) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Cash flows generated from (used in):			   (restated)*

Operating activities			 

Loss for the year from continuing operations		   (7,507)	  (1,622,744) 

Items not affecting cash:			 

Asset retirement obligation accretion		   1,795  	  1,931 

Depreciation and amortization		   74,887  	  89,320  

Unrealized foreign exchange loss		   1,191  	   2,236  

Deferred income tax expense (recovery)		   9,039 	  (265,448) 

Loss on disposal of assets		   2,121  	  3 

Other write-down of assets		   4,529  	  10,064  

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment		  –  	  1,842,965  

Loss on marketable securities and other investments		   4,881  	  – 

Share based payments		   10,559 	  15,877  

Defined benefit pension plan expense		   5,602  	  2,920 

			    107,097  	  77,124  

				  

Property reclamation payments		   (2,662)	  (551)

Changes in non-cash working capital	 20	  32,295  	  96,807 

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations		    136,730  	  173,380 

Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations 	 (23,067)	 49,978

Investing activities			 

Net cash paid on acquisition of subsidiary		   (603) 	 –

Purchase of property, plant and equipment		   (297,667)	  (347,060)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment		   4,916  	  2,312 

Proceeds from sale of mining interest net of transaction costs	 5	  792,511  	 – 

Proceeds on production of tailings retreatment		   3,708 	  17,918 

Purchase of marketable securities		  (2,526)	 (16,312)

Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities		    3,665  	 – 

Investment in term deposits 		  (910)	 (1,582)

Decrease in restricted cash		   9 	  601  

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities of continuing operations	  503,103 	  (344,123)

Net cash used by investing activities of discontinued operations		  (21,784)	 (48,744)

Financing activities			 

Issuance of common shares for cash		   – 	  121  

Dividend paid to shareholders		  –	 (11,257)

Purchase of treasury stock		  –	 (2,394)

Long-term and bank debt proceeds		   70,000	 – 

Long-term and bank debt repayments		  (70,000)	  –

Net cash used by financing activities of continuing operations		  –	   (13,530)

Net cash used by financing activities of discontinued operations		  –	 (27,286)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		   594,982 	  (210,325)

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year		   288,189  	   498,514 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year		   883,171 	   288,189 

*See Note 5.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the year ended December 31	 Note	 2016	 2015

Share capital 			 

Balance – beginning of year		   5,319,101  	  5,318,950 

	 Shares issued upon exercise of share options, for cash		   – 	  121  

	 Transfer of contributed surplus on exercise of options		  – 	  30  

	 Capital reduction	 18	  (2,500,000) 	 –

Balance – end of year		   2,819,101 	  5,319,101  

Treasury stock			 

Balance – beginning of year		   (10,211)	  (12,949)

	 Purchase of treasury stock		  –	  (2,394)

	 Shares redeemed upon exercise of restricted share units		   2,417  	  5,132  

Balance – end of year		   (7,794)	  (10,211)

Contributed surplus			 

Balance – beginning of year		    47,236  	  38,430  

	 Share based payments		   10,264  	  16,258  

	 Shares redeemed upon exercise of restricted share units		   (2,417)	  (5,132)

	 Recognition of other non-current liability and related costs		   (1,416)	  (2,290)

	 Reversal of other current liability and related costs		  52,900	 –

	 Transfer to share capital on exercise of options and  
	 deferred phantom units		  – 	  (30)

	 Capital reduction	 18	  2,500,000 	 –

Balance – end of year		   2,606,567  	  47,236 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss			 

Balance – beginning of year		   (20,572)	  (18,127)

	 Other comprehensive loss for the year		   13,400 	  (2,445)

Balance – end of year		   (7,172)	  (20,572)

Deficit			 

Balance – beginning of year		   (1,583,873)	  (31,721)

	 Dividends paid		  –	  (11,257)

	 Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company		   (344,151)	  (1,540,895) 

Balance – end of year		   (1,928,024)	  (1,583,873)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company		   3,482,678  	  3,751,681  

Non-controlling interests		

Balance – beginning of year		   169,755  	  283,331  

	 Loss attributable to non-controlling interests		   (2,725)	  (104,247)

	 Dividends declared to non-controlling interests		  –	  (10,929)

	 Increase during the period		   3,257 	  1,600 

	 Decrease due to sale of China Business and others 	 5	 (81,501)	 –

Balance – end of year		   88,786  	  169,755 

Total equity		   3,571,464  	  3,921,436  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 General Information 

Eldorado Gold Corporation (“Eldorado” or the “Company”) is a gold exploration, development and mining company. The Company has operations and 
ongoing exploration and development projects in Turkey, Greece, Brazil and Romania. The Company disposed of its China operations (“China Business”) 
during the year. Details of the sale are included in Note 5.

Eldorado is a public company which is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and New York Stock Exchange and is incorporated and domiciled in Canada.

2.	 Basis of Preparation

These consolidated financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared using accounting policies in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 23, 2017.

UPCOMING CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The following standards have been published and are mandatory for Eldorado’s annual accounting periods no earlier than January 1, 2018:

●	 IFRS 2 ‘Share Based Payments’ – In June 2016, the IASB issued final amendments to this standard. IFRS 2 clarifies the classification and measurement 
of share based payment transactions. These amendments deal with variations in the final settlement arrangements including: (a) accounting for 
cash-settled share based payment transactions that include a performance condition, (b) classification of share based payment transactions with net 
settlement features, and (c) accounting for modifications of share based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity. IFRS 2 is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact 
of the adoption of this standard.

●	 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ – This standard was published in July 2014 and replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new 
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward 
the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact of the new standard, particularly 
in the accounting of its long-term receivables and assets available-for-sale. 

●	 IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ – This standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches 
to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how 
much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgemental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing 
of revenue recognized. This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 
The Company is currently evaluating the extent of the impact of the adoption of this standard as some of its gold sales are subject to pricing adjustments.

●	 IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ – This standard was published in January 2016 and replaces the existing guidance in IAS 17, ‘Leases’. IFRS 16 introduces a single 
accounting model for lessees and for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee will be 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset, representing its right to use the underlying asset, and a lease liability, representing its obligation to make 
lease payments. The accounting treatment for lessors will remain largely the same as under IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. Although it is anticipated for all office building leases to come on balance sheet 
at the time of adoption, this is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. However, the Company 
continues its evaluation of other leases that might have an impact on its consolidated financial statements with the adoption of this standard.

There are other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been published and are not yet effective. The Company 
believes they will have no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these consolidated financial statements, and 
have been applied consistently by all Eldorado entities. 

3.1	 BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

(i)	 Subsidiaries and Business Combinations
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Eldorado. Control exists when Eldorado is exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently 
are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business acquisitions. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent 
of any non-controlling interest.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of Eldorado’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost 
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference, or gain is recognized directly in the income statement.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, which the Company incurs in connection with a business 
combination, are expensed as incurred.

The most significant wholly owned and partially owned subsidiaries of Eldorado, are presented below:

Subsidiary	 Location	 Ownership interest	 Status	 Operations and development 	
				    projects owned

Tüprag Metal Madencilik Sanayi ve Ticaret AS (“Tüprag”)	 Turkey	 100%	 Consolidated	 Kişladağ Mine 
				    Efemçukuru Mine

Hellas Gold SA (“Hellas”)	 Greece	 95%	 Consolidated	 Stratoni Mine

				    Olympias Project

				    Skouries Project

Thracean Gold Mining SA	 Greece	 100%	 Consolidated	 Perama Hill Project

Glory Resources Ltd.	 Greece	 100%	 Consolidated	 Sapes Project

Unamgen Mineração e Metalurgia S/A 	 Brazil	 100%	 Consolidated	 Vila Nova Iron Ore Mine

Brazauro Resources Corporation (“Brazauro”)	 Brazil	 100%	 Consolidated	 Tocantinzinho Project

Deva Gold SA (“Deva”)	 Romania	 81%	 Consolidated	 Certej Project

(ii)	 Discontinued Operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Company’s business that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations that has been disposed of, has been abandoned or meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

Discontinued operations are presented on the income statement as a separate line. 

(iii) 	 Assets Held for Sale
Assets and businesses classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses 
on initial classification as held for sale and gains or losses on subsequent remeasurements are included in the income statement. No depreciation is 
charged on assets and businesses classified as held for sale.

Assets and businesses are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered or settled principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. The asset or business must be available for immediate sale and the sale must be highly probable within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iv)	 Investments in Associates (Equity Accounted for Investees)	
Associates are those entities where Eldorado has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20 and 50% of the voting power of another entity. 

Associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees) and are recognized initially at cost. The consolidated financial 
statements include Eldorado’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the 
accounting policies with those of Eldorado, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. 

When the Company’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-
term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation to 
make, or has made, payments on behalf of the investee.

At each balance sheet date, each investment in associates is assessed for indicators of impairment.

(v)  	 Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests
For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Eldorado treats transactions in the ordinary course of business with non-controlling interests as transactions with third parties.

(vi)	 Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation	
Intra-company and intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from all such transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

3.2	 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(i) 	 Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of Eldorado’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency, as well as the functional currency of all significant subsidiaries.

(ii) 	 Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate 
at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the income statement. 

3.3	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(i)	 Cost and Valuation
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. When an asset is disposed of, it is 
derecognized and the difference between its carrying value and net sales proceeds is recognized as a gain or loss in the income statement.

(ii)	 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment includes expenditures incurred on properties under development, significant payments related to the acquisition of 
land and mineral rights and property, plant and equipment which are recorded at cost on initial acquisition. Cost includes the purchase price and the 
directly attributable costs of acquisition or construction required to bring an asset to the location and condition necessary for the asset to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(iii)	 Depreciation
Mine development costs, property, plant and equipment and other mining assets whose estimated useful life is the same as the remaining life of the 
mine are depreciated, depleted and amortized over a mine’s estimated life using the units-of-production method calculated based on proven and 
probable reserves.  

Capitalized development costs related to a multi-pit operation are amortized on a pit-by-pit basis over the pit’s estimated life using the units-of-
production method calculated based on proven and probable reserves related to each pit.

Property, plant and equipment and other assets whose estimated useful lives are less than the remaining life of the mine are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Where components of an asset have a different useful life and cost that is significant to the total cost of the asset, depreciation is calculated on each 
separate component.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each year and adjusted if appropriate.

(iv)	 Subsequent Costs
Expenditure on major maintenance or repairs includes the cost of replacement parts of assets and overhaul costs. Where an asset or part of an asset 
is replaced and it is probable that further future economic benefit will flow to the Company, the expenditure is capitalized. Similarly, overhaul costs 
associated with major maintenance are capitalized when it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the Company and any remaining 
costs of previous overhauls relating to the same asset are derecognized. All other expenditures are expensed as incurred.

(v)	 Deferred Stripping Costs
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine are considered production costs and included in the cost of inventory produced during 
the period in which the stripping costs are incurred, unless the stripping activity can be shown to provide access to additional mineral reserves, in 
which case the stripping costs are capitalized. Stripping costs incurred to prepare the ore body for extraction are capitalized as mine development costs 
(pre-stripping). Capitalized stripping costs are amortized on a unit-of-production basis over the proven and probable reserves to which they relate.

(vi)	 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where they are directly attributable to the financing of construction or development of qualifying 
assets requiring a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended future use. Interest is capitalized up to the date when substantially all the 
activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are complete. 

Investment income arising on the temporary investment of proceeds from borrowings is offset against borrowing costs being capitalized.

(vii)	 Mine Standby and Restructuring Costs
Mine standby costs and costs related to restructuring a mining operation are charged directly to expense in the period incurred. Mine standby costs 
include labour, maintenance and mine support costs during temporary shutdowns of a mine. 

3.4	 EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

(i) 	 Exploration
Exploration expenditures reflect the costs related to the initial search for mineral deposits with economic potential or obtaining more information 
about existing mineral deposits. Exploration expenditures typically include costs associated with the acquisition of mineral licences, prospecting, 
sampling, mapping, diamond drilling and other work involved in searching for ore. All expenditures relating to exploration activities are expensed 
as incurred except for the costs associated with the acquisition of mineral licences which are capitalized.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(ii) 	 Evaluation
Evaluation expenditures reflect costs incurred at projects related to establishing the technical and commercial viability of mineral deposits identified 
through exploration or acquired through a business combination or asset acquisition.

Evaluation expenditures include the cost of:

a)	 establishing the volume and grade of deposits through drilling of core samples, trenching and sampling activities in an ore body that is classified 
as either a mineral resource or a proven and probable reserve;

b)	 determining the optimal methods of extraction and metallurgical and treatment processes; 
c)	 studies related to surveying, transportation and infrastructure requirements;
d)	 permitting activities; and 
e)	 economic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralized material is commercially justified, including scoping, prefeasibility 

and final feasibility studies.

Evaluation expenditures are capitalized if management determines that there is evidence to support the probability of generating positive economic 
returns in the future. A mineral resource is considered to have economic potential when it is expected the technical feasibility and commercial viability 
of extraction of the mineral resource is demonstrable considering long-term metal prices. Therefore, prior to capitalizing such costs, management 
determines that the following conditions have been met:

●	 There is a probable future benefit that will contribute to future cash inflows;
●	 The Company can obtain the benefit and control access to it; and
●	 The transaction or event giving rise to the benefit has already occurred.

The evaluation phase is complete once technical feasibility of the extraction of the mineral deposit has been determined through preparation of a 
reserve and resource statement, including a mining plan as well as receipt of required permits and approval of the Board of Directors to proceed with 
development of the mine. 

(iii) 	 Development
Development expenditures are those that are incurred during the phase of preparing a mineral deposit for extraction and processing. These include 
pre-stripping costs and underground development costs to gain access to the ore that is suitable for sustaining commercial mining, preparing land, 
construction of plant, equipment and buildings and costs of commissioning the mine and mill.

Expenditures incurred on development projects continue to be capitalized until the mine and mill move into the production stage. The Company 
assesses each mine construction project to determine when a mine moves into the production stage. The criteria used to assess the start date are 
determined based on the nature of each mine construction project, such as the complexity of a plant or its location. Various relevant criteria are 
considered to assess when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use and moved into the production stage. Some of the 
criteria considered would include, but are not limited to, the following: (1) the level of capital expenditures compared to construction cost estimates, 
(2) the completion of a reasonable period of testing of mine plant and equipment, (3) the ability to produce minerals in saleable form (within 
specification); and (4) the ability to sustain ongoing production of minerals.

Alternatively, if the factors that impact the technical feasibility and commercial viability of a project change and no longer support the probability 
of generating positive economic returns in the future, expenditures will no longer be capitalized.

3.5	 GOODWILL 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of Eldorado’s share of the net assets of the acquired business at the 
date of acquisition. When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognized immediately in income. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries 
and businesses is shown separately as goodwill in the financial statements. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments in 
significantly influenced companies and tested for impairment as part of the overall investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses and tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 
The impairment testing is performed annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units ("CGUs") for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs 
that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. If the composition of one or more cash generating units to 
which goodwill has been allocated changes due to a reorganization, the goodwill is reallocated to the units affected.

The gain or loss on disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

3.6	 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment test is performed when the impairment indicators demonstrate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and 
it is reviewed at least annually.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows or CGUs. 

Value in use is determined as the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or CGU based on the detailed mine 
and/or production plans. The estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Fair value less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or CGU in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, less the costs of disposal. For mining assets, fair value less cost to sell is often estimated using a discounted cash flow approach because a 
fair value is not readily available from an active market or binding sale agreement. Estimated future cash flows are calculated using estimated future 
prices, mineral reserves and resources, and operating and capital costs. All assumptions used are those that an independent market participant would 
consider appropriate. Non-financial assets other than goodwill impaired in prior periods are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an item is no longer impaired.

3.7	 FINANCIAL ASSETS

(i) 	 Classification
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. 

(b) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for those with maturities of greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period, which are classified as 
non-current assets. Eldorado’s loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and other, and other 
assets in the balance sheet.

(c) Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the 
end of the reporting period. Eldorado’s available-for-sale financial assets comprise marketable securities not held for the purpose of trading.
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3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(ii) 	 Recognition and Measurement
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income 
statement. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and 
the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables 
are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category are presented in the income 
statement within “Gain or loss on marketable securities” in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from “Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss” is recognized in the income statement as part of other income when Eldorado’s right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income and 
presented within equity. When marketable securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recognized in other comprehensive income are included in the income statement as “Gain or loss on marketable securities”.

(iii)	 Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-
for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value. In the case of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss on that financial asset that was previously recognized in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement.

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset recognized previously 
in equity is transferred to profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized. Impairment losses recognized for equity securities are not reversed.

3.8 	 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing any resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized immediately in the income statement.

(a) Fair Value Hedge
Changes in the fair values of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with 
any changes in the fair values of the hedged assets or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

(b) Cash-Flow Hedge
The effective portions of changes in the fair values of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash-flow hedges are recognized in equity. The 
gain or loss relating to any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged items will affect profit or loss 
(for instance, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). If a forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset (for example, inventory) or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in the hedge reserve are transferred from the reserve and included 
in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
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3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in the hedge reserve at that time remains in the reserve and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in the 
income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive 
income is immediately transferred to the income statement.

The Company has not designated any derivative contracts as hedges and therefore has not applied hedge accounting in these financial statements. 

3.9	 INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are 
accounted for as follows:

i)	 Product inventory consists of stockpiled ore, ore on leach pads, crushed ore, in-circuit material at properties with milling or processing operations, 
gold concentrate, other metal concentrate, iron ore stockpile awaiting shipment, doré awaiting refinement and unsold bullion. Product inventory 
costs consist of direct production costs including mining, crushing and processing; site administration costs; and allocated indirect costs, including 
depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment. 

	 Inventory costs are charged to production costs on the basis of quantity of metal sold. The Company regularly evaluates and refines estimates 
used in determining the costs charged to production costs and costs absorbed into inventory carrying values based upon actual gold recoveries 
and operating plans. 

	 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

ii)	 Materials and supplies inventory consists of consumables used in operations, such as fuel, chemicals, reagents and spare parts, which are valued 
at the lower of average cost and net realizable value and, where appropriate, less a provision for obsolescence. Costs include acquisition, freight 
and other directly attributable costs.

3.10	TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for bullion, doré, gold concentrate, other metal concentrates and iron ore sold in the ordinary 
course of business. 

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less a 
provision for impairment where necessary.

3.11 	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with maturities at the date 
of acquisition of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

3.12 	SHARE CAPITAL

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share options are recognized as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Common shares held by the Company are classified as treasury stock and recorded as a reduction of 
shareholders’ equity.

3.13	TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts 
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). 
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

3.14	DEBT AND BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost, calculated 
using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities and other borrowings are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility and other borrowings will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility and borrowings will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for 
liquidity services and amortized over the period of the loan to which it relates.

3.15	CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in the income statement except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income or in 
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Taxes on income in the interim periods are accrued using the tax rate that would be 
applicable to expected total annual earnings. The tax rate used is the rate that is substantively enacted.

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference 
can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized.

3.16	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) 	 Defined Benefit Plans
Certain employees have entitlements under Company pension plans which are defined benefit pension plans. For defined benefit plans, the level of 
benefit provided is based on the length of service and earnings of the person entitled.

The cost of the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method. The related pension liability recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets.

The Company obtains actuarial valuations for defined benefit plans for each balance sheet date. Actuarial assumptions used in the determination of 
defined benefit pension plan liabilities are based on best estimates, including rate of salary escalation and expected retirement dates of employees. 
The discount rate is based on high-quality bond yields, as per IAS 19. The assumption used to determine the interest income on plan assets is equal 
to the discount rate, as per IAS 19. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in other comprehensive income without recycling to the statement 
of income in subsequent periods. Current service cost, the vested element of any past service cost, the interest income on plan assets and the interest 
arising on the pension liability are included in the same line items in the statement of income as the related compensation cost.

Past service costs are recognized immediately to the extent the benefits are vested, and otherwise are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
average period until the benefits become vested.
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3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(ii) 	 Termination Benefits
Eldorado recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according 
to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal, or providing benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary termination. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

(iii)	 Short-Term Benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if Eldorado has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.17	SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for all stock option awards and equity settled restricted share units and performance share 
units. Under this method the Company recognizes a compensation expense for all stock options awarded to employees, based on the fair value 
of the options on the date of grant which is determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. For equity-settled restricted share units, 
compensation expense is recognized based on the quoted market value of the shares. For equity-settled performance share units, compensation 
expense is recognized based on the fair value of the shares on the date of grant which is determined by a valuator.

The fair value of the options, restricted share units and performance share units are expensed over the vesting period of the awards with a 
corresponding increase in equity. No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. Deferred share units are liability awards recorded 
at the quoted market price at the grant date. The corresponding liability is marked to market at each reporting date.

3.18	PROVISIONS

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. They are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

(i) 	 Rehabilitation and Restoration
Provision is made for mine rehabilitation and restoration when an obligation is incurred. The provision is recognized as a liability with a corresponding 
asset recognized in relation to the mine site. At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is remeasured in line with changes in discount rates, 
and timing or amount of the costs to be incurred. The rehabilitation liability is classified as an “Asset retirement obligation” on the balance sheet.

The provision recognized represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future costs required. Significant estimates and 
assumptions are made in determining the amount of restoration and rehabilitation provisions. Those estimates and assumptions deal with 
uncertainties such as: requirements of the relevant legal and regulatory frameworks, the magnitude of necessary remediation activities, and the 
timing, extent and costs of required restoration and rehabilitation activity.

These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision recognized is periodically 
reviewed and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for operating sites are 
recognized in the balance sheet by adjusting both the restoration and rehabilitation asset and provision. Such changes give rise to a change in future 
depreciation and financial charges.
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3. 	 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

3.19	REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from the sale of bullion, doré, gold concentrate, other metal concentrates and iron ore is recognized when persuasive evidence of an 
arrangement exists, the bullion, doré, metal concentrates and iron ore has been shipped, title has passed to the purchaser, the price is fixed or 
determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. Revenues realized from sales of pre-commercial production are recorded as a reduction of 
property, plant and equipment.  

Our metal concentrates are sold under pricing arrangements where final metal prices are determined by market prices subsequent to the date of 
shipment. Provisional revenue is recorded at the date of shipment based on metal prices at that time. Adjustments are made to the provisional 
revenue in subsequent periods based on fluctuations in the market prices until the date of final metal pricing. Consequently, at each reporting period 
the receivable balances relating to sales of concentrates change with the fluctuations in market prices. 

3.20	FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), gains on the disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit 
or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. All borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method, except for those amounts capitalized as part of the cost of qualifying property, plant and equipment.

3.21	EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Eldorado presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss 
attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 
EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise warrants and share options granted to employees.

4.	 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each period end. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include assumptions and estimates relating to determining defined proven and probable 
reserves, value beyond proven and probable reserves, fair values for purposes of purchase price allocations for business acquisitions, asset impairment 
analyses, asset retirement obligations, share based payments and warrants, pension benefits, valuation of deferred income tax assets, the provision 
for income tax liabilities, deferred income taxes and assessing and evaluating contingencies. 

Actual results could differ from these estimates. Outlined below are some of the areas which require management to make significant estimates and 
assumptions in determining carrying values. 

	 PURCHASE PRICE ALLOCATION

Business combinations require estimates to be made at the date of acquisition in relation to determining asset and liability fair values and the 
allocation of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the assets and liabilities.
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4. 	 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

In respect of mining company acquisitions, purchase consideration is typically allocated to the mineral reserves and resources being acquired. The 
estimate of reserves and resources is subject to assumptions relating to life of the mine and may change when new information becomes available. 
Changes in reserves and resources as a result of factors such as production costs, recovery rates, grade or reserves or commodity prices could impact 
depreciation rates, asset carrying values and environmental and restoration provisions. Changes in assumptions over long-term commodity prices, 
market demand and supply, and economic and regulatory climates could also impact the carrying value of assets, including goodwill.

	 ESTIMATED RECOVERABLE RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Mineral reserve and resource estimates are based on various assumptions relating to operating matters, including, with respect to production costs, 
mining and processing recoveries, cut-off grades, as well as assumptions relating to long-term commodity prices and, in some cases, exchange rates, 
inflation rates and capital costs. Cost estimates are based on feasibility study estimates or operating history. Estimates are prepared by appropriately 
qualified persons, but will be impacted by forecasted commodity prices, inflation rates, exchange rates, capital and production costs, and recoveries, 
amongst other factors. Estimated recoverable reserves and resources are used to determine the depreciation of property, plant and equipment at 
operating mine sites, in accounting for deferred stripping costs, in performing impairment testing and for forecasting the timing of the payment 
of decommissioning and restoration costs. Therefore, changes in the assumptions used could impact the carrying value of assets, depreciation and 
impairment charges recorded in the income statement and the carrying value of the decommissioning and restoration provision.

	 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

The Company calculates current and deferred tax provisions for each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. Actual amounts of income tax expense 
are not final until tax returns are filed and accepted by the relevant authorities. This occurs subsequent to the issuance of financial statements. 
Therefore, profit in subsequent periods will be affected by the amount that estimates differ from the final tax returns.

Estimates of recoverability are required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognized on the balance 
sheet. The Company also evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an assessment of the ability to use the underlying future tax 
deductions before they expire against future taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates are recognized unless the reversal of the temporary differences is not expected to occur in the foreseeable future and 
can be controlled. 

Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on management’s estimates of future 
production and sales volumes, commodity prices, reserves, operating costs, decommissioning and restoration costs, capital expenditures, dividends 
and other capital management transactions. 

Judgement is also required in the application of income tax legislation. These estimates and judgements are subject to risk and uncertainty and could 
result in an adjustment to current and deferred tax provisions and a corresponding credit or debit to profit.

	 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Non-current assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be fully 
recoverable. We conduct an annual test for impairment of goodwill in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year and at any other time of the year if an 
indicator of impairment is identified. 

Calculating the estimated fair values of CGUs for non-current asset impairment tests and CGUs or groups of CGUs for goodwill impairment tests 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions with respect to future production levels, operating and capital costs in our life-of-
mine (“LOM”) plans, long-term metal prices, foreign exchange rates and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in 
determining the fair values could impact the impairment analysis. 

Management is also required to make judgements with respect to the level at which goodwill is tested for impairment. Judgements include an 
assessment of whether CGUs should be grouped together for goodwill testing purposes at a level not larger than an operating segment or tested 
at the individual CGU level.
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5.	 Sale of China Business

On April 26, 2016, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement to sell its 82% interest in Jinfeng to a wholly owned subsidiary 
of China National Gold Group (“CNG”) for $300.0 million in cash, subject to certain closing adjustments. The sale was completed on 
September 6, 2016. In addition to the sale of Jinfeng, on May 16, 2016 Eldorado announced it had reached an agreement to sell its respective 
interest in White Mountain, Tanjianshan and Eastern Dragon to an affiliate of Yintai Resources Co. Ltd. (“Yintai”) for $600.0 million in cash, subject 
to certain closing adjustments. The sale was completed on November 22, 2016.

An initial post-tax loss of $339.0 million was recognized on remeasurement to fair value less costs of disposal of our China Business during the 
second quarter. This loss was allocated first to goodwill and the remainder to property, plant and equipment. As at December 31, 2016, a net loss 
on sale of assets held for sale of $351.0 million was realized in net loss from discontinued operations as a result of completing both sale transactions.

The loss on sale of our China Business was calculated as follows:

($ thousands)		  	 Total

Net proceeds					   

Sales price					     900,000 

Pre-closing cash amount					      66,531 

Working capital adjustment					      902 

Withholding taxes					      (85,858)

					      	 881,575 

Net assets sold					   

Cash					      77,054 

Accounts receivable and other					      25,321 

Inventories					      70,278 

Other assets					      19,307 

Property, plant and equipment					      1,329,409 

Goodwill					      50,276 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities					      (46,659)

Other non-current liabilities					      (23,197)

Deferred income tax liabilities					      (185,482)

Non-controlling interest					      (83,498)

					      	 1,232,809 

Loss on sale					      (351,234)

Proceeds from sale of mining interest presented on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows are net of transaction costs of $13,001 
and cash retained in the entities sold of $77,054, and excludes accruals of $991. Transaction costs are included in general and administrative 
expenses in our discontinued operations results.

The results from operations for our China Business have, together with restated comparatives, been presented as discontinued operations within the 
Consolidated Income Statements and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The discontinued operations include the results of Jinfeng up to 
September 6, 2016 and of White Mountain, Tanjianshan and Eastern Dragon up to November 22, 2016.
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5.	 Sale of China Business (continued)

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Revenue			   217,511 	  	 384,212 

Production costs			   144,590 	  	 217,696 

Depreciation and amortization			   19,067 	  	 89,657

Gross profit			   53,854 		   76,859 

Exploration expenses			    1,257 		   1,524 

General and administrative expenses			   20,999 		   11,893 

Other writedown of assets			    – 		   45,086 

Foreign exchange loss			    306 		   1,750 

Operating profit			   31,292 		   16,606 

Interest and financing costs			   169 		   754 

Asset retirement obligation accretion			   356 		   480 

Other expense			   2,713 		   748 

Profit from discontinued operations before income tax			   28,054 		   14,624 

Income tax expense			   16,189 		   37,022 

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations			   11,865 		   (22,398)

Loss on sale of assets held for sale			   351,234 		  – 

Net loss from discontinued operations			   (339,369)		   (22,398) 

The Company applies judgement to determine whether an asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition and that its 
sale is highly probable and therefore should be classified as held for sale at the balance sheet date. Conditions that support a highly probable sale 
include the following: an appropriate level of management is committed to a plan to sell the asset or disposal group, an active program to locate 
a buyer and complete the plan has been initiated, the asset or disposal group has been actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in 
relation to its current fair value, and the sale of the asset or disposal group is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification as held for sale. 

The CNG and Yintai transactions were a result of a strategic review by the Company’s management to maximize the value of the Company’s 
operations in China. Accordingly, the disposal of substantially all of the China Business through the CNG and Yintai transactions represents a single 
coordinated plan to dispose of a major line of business or geographical area of operations.

The Company concluded that during the second quarter of 2016, the assets and liabilities of the China Business met the criteria for classification as 
held for sale as settlement was expected within twelve months. In addition, the assets of the China Business were not depreciated while they were 
classified as held for sale.

In March 2014, the Company entered into the Subscription and Shareholders agreement (“Agreements”) with CDH Fortune II Limited (“CDH”). CDH 
had the right to require Eldorado to acquire its 20% interest in Eastern Dragon for a fixed price for 90 days following the second anniversary of the 
agreement, which resulted in Eldorado recording a put option liability from the date of the agreement. The put option liability of $52.9 million was 
reversed against contributed surplus during Q2, 2016 when the option period expired. The reversal against contributed surplus was consistent with 
the original entry to record the liability and the Company’s accounting policy. The Agreements included other rights and obligations of the Company 
and CDH associated with the advancement of the Eastern Dragon Project, the holding structure, and the number of subsidiaries related to our 
Chinese assets. Concurrent with the sale of the Company’s China Business, Yintai acquired CDH’s interest in Eastern Dragon.
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6.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Cash at bank and on hand			   282,021		  240,389

Short-term bank deposits			   601,150		  47,800

				    883,171		  288,189

7.	 Accounts Receivable and Other

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Trade receivables			   11,053		  16,137

Value added and other taxes recoverable			   22,156		  16,195

Other receivables and advances			   8,208		  15,903

Pre paid expenses and deposits			   12,898		  37,233

				    54,315		  85,468

8.	 Inventories

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Ore stockpiles			   2,715		  30,897

In-process inventory and finished goods			   50,195		  36,841

Materials and supplies			   67,920		  107,888

				    120,830		  175,626

The cost of materials and supplies consumed during the year and included in production costs amounted to $103,073 (2015 – $121,363).

Inventory write-downs related to iron ore, zinc and lead inventories amounting to $nil (2015 – $12,024) were recognized during the year.
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9.	 Investment in Subsidiaries

The following table summarizes the information relating to each of the Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). 
The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are based on those included in the consolidated financial statements before inter-company eliminations. 

($ thousands)			   December 31, 2016

				    Hellas	 Deva

NCI percentage				    5%	 19%

Current assets				      80,251 	  4,613   

Non-current assets				      1,978,622 	  412,082 

Current liabilities				     (950,131)	  (189,548)

Non-current liabilities				     (298,488)	  (43,577)

Net assets			    	  810,254 	  183,570  

Carrying amount of NCI				     33,553 	  55,233  

Revenue			    	  40,631  	  – 

Net profit (loss)			    	  (67,712)	  (5,553)

Total comprehensive income (loss)		   	  	  (67,712)	  (5,553)

Profit (loss) allocated to NCI		   	  	  (3,386)	  (1,289)

Dividends paid to NCI		   	  	  – 	  – 

Cash flows from operating activities		   		    (52,588)	  (6,037) 

Cash flows from investing activities		   		   (208,031)	  (15,952)

Cash flows from financing activities				      288,982 	  22,799 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		   		   28,363 	  810 
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9.	 Investment in Subsidiaries (continued)

($ thousands)			   December 31, 2015

		  QDML	 Jinfeng	 Hellas	 Deva

NCI percentage		  10%	 18%	 5%	 19%

Current assets		   197,914 	  47,920 	  37,563 	  4,279 

Non-current assets		   88,194 	  588,335 	  1,777,369 	  396,280 

Current liabilities		   (24,131)	  (116,356)	  (748,756)	  (167,749)

Non-current liabilities		   (7,831)	  (30,581)	  (288,772)	  (43,688)

Net assets		   254,146 	  489,318 	  777,404 	  189,122 

Carrying amount of NCI		   21,013 	  16,572 	  33,682 	  56,521 

Revenue		   115,762 	  176,641 	  35,869 	  – 

Net profit (loss)		   9,733 	  23,367 	  (1,371,819)	  (216,044)

Total comprehensive income (loss)		   9,733 	  23,367 	  (1,371,819)	  (216,044)

Profit (loss) allocated to NCI		   1,830 	  5,071 	  (69,476)	  (40,684)

Dividends paid to NCI		   3,262 	  5,634 	  – 	  – 

Cash flows from operating activities		   44,973 	  30,874 	   (2,364) 	   (5,527) 

Cash flows from investing activities		   (17,934)	  (12,250)	  (241,428)	  (19,983)

Cash flows from financing activities		   (32,623)	  (21,991)	  252,083  	   20,332  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		   (5,584)	  (3,367)	  8,291 	  (5,178) 

10.	Other Assets

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Restricted credit card deposits			   38		  39

Non-current accounts receivable and other			   –		  2,875

Prepaid loan costs (Note 14(a))			   1,772		  –

Environmental guarantee deposits			   –		  13,667

Deposit on land acquisition at Jinfeng			   –		  2,739

Long-term value added and other taxes recoverable			   46,487		  63,827

				    48,297		  83,147
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11.	Property, Plant and Equipment

				    Mineral 
	 Land and	 Plant and	 Capital works	 properties 	 Capitalized 
($ thousands)	 buildings 	  equipment	 in progress	  and leases	 evaluation	 Total

Cost						    

Balance at January 1, 2015	  381,571 	  1,662,993 	  144,260 	  4,530,571 	  69,440 	  6,788,835  

Additions/transfers	  35,866 	  67,649 	  20,588 	  263,183 	  4,674 	  391,960 

Proceeds on production of tailings retreatment	  – 	  – 	  – 	 (17,918)	  – 	 (17,918)

Other movements	  20 	  3,661 	 (455)	  1,751 	 (3,094)	  1,883 

Disposals	 (10,566)	 (2,237)	 (1)	 (1,038)	  – 	 (13,842)

Balance at December 31, 2015	  406,891 	  1,732,066 	  164,392 	  4,776,549 	  71,020 	  7,150,918  

						    

Balance at January 1, 2016	  406,891 	  1,732,066 	  164,392 	  4,776,549 	  71,020 	  7,150,918  

Additions/transfers	  24,121 	  62,050 	  2,577 	  235,756 	  6,475 	  330,979 

Sale of China Business	 (266,878)	 (376,571)	 (24,712)	 (1,132,900)	 –	 (1,801,061)

Proceeds on production of tailings retreatment	 – 	  –	  – 	 (3,708)	  – 	 (3,708)

Other movements	  1,084 	  2,088 	 (335)	  6,457 	 – 	  9,294  

Disposals	 (678)	 (2,685)	 –	 (4,681)	  –	 (8,044)

Balance at December 31, 2016	  164,540 	  1,416,948 	  141,922 	  3,877,473 	  77,495 	  5,678,378  

						    

Depreciation and impairment losses						    

Balance at January 1, 2015	 (89,799)	 (569,136)	 – 	 (166,289)	 – 	 (825,224)

Depreciation for the year	 (32,877)	 (118,474)	  – 	 (25,756)	  –	 (177,107)

Other movements	 (666)	 (2,648)	  – 	 (112)	  –	 (3,426)

Impairment losses	 (15,883)	 (131,637)	 (4,733)	 (1,253,392)	  –	 (1,405,645)

Disposals	  7,320 	  922 	  –	  1 	 – 	  8,243  

Balance at December 31, 2015	 (131,905)	 (820,973)	 (4,733)	 (1,445,548)	 – 	 (2,403,159)

						    

Balance at January 1, 2016	 (131,905)	 (820,973)	 (4,733)	 (1,445,548)	  – 	 (2,403,159)

Depreciation for the year	 (12,000)	 (78,847)	 – 	 (8,820)	 – 	 (99,667)

Other movements	 (274)	 (1,198)	  –	 (1,897)	 – 	 (3,369)

Sale of China Business	  105,536 	  193,106 	  – 	  173,010 	  – 	  471,652 

Disposals	  8 	  1,271 	 –	 (902)	 –	  1,992  

Balance at December 31, 2016	 (38,635)	 (706,641)	 (4,733)	 (1,284,157)	  –	 (2,032,551)

						    

Carrying amounts						    

At January 1, 2015	  291,772 	  1,093,857 	  144,260 	  4,364,282 	  69,440 	  5,963,611  

At December 31, 2015	  274,986 	  911,093 	  159,659 	  3,331,001 	  71,020 	  4,747,759  

Balance at December 31, 2016	  125,905 	  710,307 	  137,189 	  2,593,316 	  77,495 	  3,645,827 

The amount of capitalized interest during the year ended December 31, 2016 included in property, plant and equipment was $31,680 
(2015 – $27,215). 
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11.	Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies each CGU is assessed for indicators of impairment, from both external and internal sources, at 
the end of each reporting period, which may suggest that the carrying values of its assets are impaired for accounting purposes. If such indicators of 
impairment exist for any or all CGUs, those CGUs are tested for impairment. 

At December 31, 2016, the Company determined that there were no indicators of impairment. As a result, no impairment test was performed.

At December 31, 2015, the Company determined that indicators of impairment were identified in the CGUs of the Certej project, Skouries project, 
the Stratoni mine, the Vila Nova mine and the TJS mine. No other indicators of impairment were identified. 

As at December 31, 2015, the Company recorded impairment charges totalling $1,405,645 ($1,049,196 net of deferred income tax recovery), 
excluding the impairment of goodwill totalling $476,020 (Note 12). Impairment charges comprised of $1,042,066 ($739,867 net of deferred 
income tax recovery) to the Skouries project, $43,974 ($31,222 net of deferred income tax recovery) to the Stratoni mine, $254,910 ($214,125 net 
of deferred income tax recovery) on our Certej project, $36,462 ($35,749 net of deferred income tax recovery) to the TJS mine and $28,233 to the 
Vila Nova mine.

These impairment charges were applied to the property, plant and equipment based on the relative carrying amounts of the assets as at 
December 31, 2015 that were subject to impairment charges. At December 31, 2015, the carrying amount of our Skouries project, our Certej project 
and our TJS mine after impairment charges was $309,110, $396,279 and $50,497, respectively. The full value of the property, plant and equipment 
was impaired at the Stratoni mine and the Vila Nova mine, as a result the carrying amount of the Stratoni mine and Vila Nova mine is $nil. 

12.	Goodwill

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Cost		

Balance at January 1			     50,276 	  	 526,296  

	 Impaired during the year			    –   		   (476,020)

	 Disposal due to sale	  		  (50,276)		   –  

Balance at December 31			     –   	  	 50,276 

	 Impairment Tests for Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment is 
determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable 
amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount including goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill 
cannot be reversed in future periods. 

In 2016, the Company disposed of all of its goodwill as part of the sale of its China Business, so no impairment test for goodwill was necessary as of 
December 31, 2016.

In 2015, goodwill was allocated to the individual CGUs of TJS and White Mountain in China and to a group of CGUs in Greece and was tested for 
impairment at year end.The recoverable amount of a CGU or group of CGUs was determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value-in-use. These calculations used projections based on financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period were 
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. The estimates of future cash flows were derived from the most recent LOM plans with 
mine lives ranging from 6 to 38 years. 

Key assumptions used for fair value less costs to sell calculations are as follows:

			   2015

Gold price ($/oz)					     1,100–1,300

Silver price ($/oz)					     16–18

Copper ($/lb)					     2.59–2.86

Lead ($/lb)					     0.82–0.91

Zinc ($/lb)					     0.91

Inflation rate (%) 					     2.0

Discount rate (%)					     5.0–9.0
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12.	Goodwill (continued)

Based on the goodwill impairment test performed on its CGUs, the Company concluded that the goodwill was recoverable in the CGU of White 
Mountain; however, goodwill was not recoverable in the CGU of TJS and the group of CGUs in Greece. The discounted cash flow model yielded an 
impairment of the full carrying value of goodwill of Greece ($473,782) and TJS ($2,238).

The above assumptions were used for the analysis of the recoverability of goodwill and the CGUs to which it related. The discount rates used 
reflected specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs. 

Permitting delays and increased capital and operating costs negatively affected the cash flow at the Skouries project, which was the main contributor 
to the decline in the cash flows of the group of CGUs in Greece. 

As at December 31, 2015, the goodwill balance was allocated to the White Mountain CGU in the amount of $50,276.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represented management’s assessment of future trends in the gold mining industry and in the global 
economic environment. The assumptions used were management’s best estimates and were based on both current and historical information from 
external and internal sources.

13.	Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Trade payables			   43,712		  97,345

Taxes payable			   243		  5,857

Accrued expenses			   46,750		  133,617

				    90,705		  236,819

14.	Debt

(a) 	 Revolving Credit Facility
In November 2012, the Company entered into a $375.0 million revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks (“the credit facility”). The credit 
facility was due to mature on November 23, 2016.

In June 2016, the Company amended and restated the existing revolving credit agreement (“the amended and restated credit agreement” or 
“ARCA”) and reduced the available credit to $250.0 million with the option to increase by an additional $100.0 million through an accordion 
feature. The maturity date was also extended to June 13, 2020. The ARCA continues to be secured by the shares of SG Resources and Tüprag, 
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The ARCA contains covenants that restrict, among other things, the ability of the Company to incur aggregate unsecured indebtedness exceeding 
$850.0 million or to incur secured indebtedness exceeding $200.0 million and permitted unsecured indebtedness exceeding $150.0 million. The 
ARCA also contains restrictions for making distributions in certain circumstances, selling material assets (other than the permitted disposition of the 
China Business) and conducting business other than that which relates to the mining industry. Significant financial covenants include a maximum Net 
Debt to Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) of 3.5:1 and a minimum EBITDA to Interest of 3:1. The Company 
is in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2016. 

Loan interest is variable dependent on a Net Leverage ratio pricing grid. The Company’s current net leverage ratio is approximately -1.7:1. At this 
ratio, interest charges and fees are as follows: LIBOR plus margin of 2.0% and undrawn standby fee of 0.50%. Fees of $2,031 were paid on the 
amendment dated June 2016. This amount has been deferred as pre-payment for liquidity services and is being amortized to financing costs over the 
term of the credit facility. As at December 31, 2016, the pre paid loan cost on the balance sheet was $1,772.

No amounts were drawn down under the ARCA as at December 31, 2016.
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14. 	Debt (continued)

(b) 	 Senior Notes
On December 10, 2012, the Company completed an offering of $600.0 million senior notes (“the notes”) at par value, with a coupon rate 
of 6.125% due December 15, 2020. The notes pay interest semi-annually on June 15 and December 15. The Company received proceeds of 
$589.5 million from the offering, which is net of the commission payment. The notes are redeemable by the Company in whole or in part, for cash: 

i)	 At any time prior to December 15, 2016 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes at the treasury 
yield plus 50 basis points, and any accrued and unpaid interest;

ii)	 On and after the dates provided below, at the redemption prices, expressed as a percentage of principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, 
set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the notes:

December 15, 2016	 103.063%
December 15, 2017	 101.531%
2018 and thereafter	 100.000%

The early prepayment prices are to reimburse the lender for lost interest for the remaining term. The fair market value of the notes as at 
December 31, 2016 is $609.0 million. 

Net deferred financing costs of $8,411 have been included as an offset in the balance of the notes in the financial statements and are being 
amortized over the term of the notes.  

(c) 	 Entrusted Loan
In November 2010, Eastern Dragon, HSBC Bank (China) and QDML entered into an entrusted loan agreement, which currently has an approved limit 
of RMB 720.0 million ($103,791).

Under the terms of the entrusted loan, QDML with its own funds entrusts HSBC Bank (China) to provide a loan facility in the name of QDML to 
Eastern Dragon. The loan can be drawn down in tranches. Each draw-down bears interest fixed at the prevailing lending rate stipulated by the 
People’s Bank of China on the date of draw-down. Each draw-down has a term of one year and can be rolled forward at the discretion of QDML. 

The entrusted loan was recorded on a net settlement basis.

On November 22, 2016, we completed the sale of our respective interest in the QDML and Eastern Dragon to an affiliate of Yintai. As a result, we no 
longer have any obligations related to the entrusted loan. 
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15.	Asset Retirement Obligations

($ thousands)	 Greece	 Brazil	 China	 Turkey	 Romania	 Total

At January 1, 2016	   40,003 	  4,087 	  22,922 	  34,154 	  1,470 	  102,636  

Accretion during the year	  884 	  26 	  340 	  847 	  38 	  2,135 

Revisions to estimate of obligation	  8,774 	  (21)	  –   	  2,326 	  (149)	  10,930 

Settlements	  (1,530)	  –   	  (81)	  (1,131)	 –   	  (2,742)

Disposal	  –   	 –   	  (23,181)	 –   	 –   	  (23,181)

At December 31, 2016	   48,131 	  4,092 	  –   	  36,196 	  1,359 	  89,778  

Estimated undiscounted amount	   78,302 	  4,125 	  –   	  52,638 	  2,308 	  137,373  

The Company’s asset retirement obligations relate to the restoration and rehabilitation of the Company’s mining operations and projects under 
development. The expected timing of the cash flows in respect of the provision is based on the estimated life of the various mining operations. 
The decrease in the estimate of the obligation in 2016 was mainly due to the disposal of the Company’s China assets. 

The provision is calculated as the present value of estimated future net cash outflows based on the following key assumptions:

(%)	 Greece	 Brazil	 China	 Turkey	 Romania	

At December 31, 2015					   

Inflation rate	  2.0 	  2.0 	 2.0 	  2.0 	  2.0 

Discount rate	   0.6 to 3.0 	  0.6 	 1.0 to 2.3  	  2.2 to 2.9 	  2.7  

At December 31, 2016					   

Inflation rate	   2.0 to 2.4 	 2.0 to 2.4	 –    	  2.0 to 2.4 	  2.0 to 2.4  

Discount rate	   1.5 to 3.0 	 0.8	  –    	  2.3 to 2.5 	  2.7  

The discount rate is a risk-free rate determined based on U.S. Treasury bond rates. U.S. Treasury bond rates have been used for all of the mine sites as 
the liabilities are denominated in U.S. dollars and the majority of the expenditures are expected to be incurred in U.S. dollars. The inflation rates used 
in determining the present value of the future net cash outflows are based on world-wide inflation rates.

Additionally, the Company has a €50.0 million Letter of Guarantee to the Ministry of Environment of Greece as security for the due and proper 
performance of rehabilitation works in relation to the mining and metallurgical facilities of the Kassandra Mines (Stratoni, Olympias and Skouries) and 
the removal, cleaning and rehabilitation of the old Olympias tailings. This Letter of Guarantee is renewed annually, expires on July 26, 2026 and has 
an annual fee of 57 basis points.
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16.	Defined Benefit Plans

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Balance sheet obligations (asset) for: 			 

Pension Plan 			     10,882 	  	 6,720  

Supplemental Pension Plan 			    (11,620)	  	 (11,451)

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Income statement charge for: 			 

Pension Plan 			     4,409 	  	 1,453  

Supplemental Pension Plan 			    1,193 	  	 1,467  

				      5,602 		   2,920  

			 

			 

Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the statement of other 			 

	 comprehensive income in the period (before tax) 			    1,188 		   213  

Cumulative actuarial losses recognized in the statement of other 			 

	 comprehensive income (before tax) 			     15,520 	  	 14,332  

The Company operates defined benefit pension plans in Canada with two components: a registered pension plan (“the Canadian Pension Plan”) 
and a supplemental pension plan (“the SERP”). During the second quarter of 2012, the SERP was converted into a Retirement Compensation 
Arrangement (“RCA”), a trust account. As it is a trust account, the assets in the account are protected from the Company’s creditors. The RCA 
requires the Company to remit 50% of any contributions and any realized investment gains to the Receiver General of Canada as refundable tax.

These plans, which are only available to certain qualifying employees, provide benefits based on an employee’s years of service and final average 
earnings at retirement. Annual contributions related to these plans are actuarially determined and made at or in excess of minimum requirements 
prescribed by legislation.

Eldorado’s plans have actuarial valuations performed for funding purposes. The Canadian Pension Plan last had an actuarial valuation performed as 
of January 1, 2014 for funding purposes with the next required valuation as of January 1, 2017. The SERP’s last valuation was on January 1, 2016 for 
funding purposes and the next valuation will be prepared in accordance with the terms of the pension plan. The measurement date to determine the 
pension obligation and assets for accounting purposes was December 31, 2016.

The SERP is designed to provide supplementary pension benefits to qualifying employees affected by the maximum pension limits under the Income 
Tax Act pursuant to the registered Canadian Pension Plan. Further, the Company is not required to pre-fund any benefit obligation under the SERP. 

Total Cash Payments
The amount contributed to the Canadian Pension Plan and the SERP was $1,728 (2015 – $2,798). Cash payments totalling $471 were made directly 
to beneficiaries during the year (2015 – $135). The expected contributions to the Canadian Pension Plan are $111 and $1,131 to the SERP in 2017.

Subsidiaries’ Pension Plan
According to the Greek and Turkish labour law, employees are entitled to compensation in case of dismissal or retirement, the amount of which 
varies depending on salary, years of service and the manner of termination (dismissal or retirement). Employees who resign or are dismissed with 
cause are not entitled to compensation. The Company considers this a defined benefit obligation. Amounts relating to these pension plans have been 
included in the tables in this note under “Pension Plan” when applicable.
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16.	Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet for all pension plans are determined as follows:

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total

Present value of obligations	   12,936 	  37,686 	  50,622 	  8,688 	  31,565 	  40,253  

Fair value of plan assets	  (2,054)	  (49,306)	  (51,360)	  (1,968)	  (43,016)	  (44,984)

Liability (asset) on balance sheet	   10,882 	  (11,620)	  (738)	  6,720 	  (11,451)	  (4,731)

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total

Balance at January 1	   8,688 	  31,565 	  40,253 	  9,129 	  33,320 	  42,449  

	 Current service cost	   520 	  1,483 	  2,003 	  1,168 	  1,972 	  3,140 

	 Past service cost	  3,494 	  193 	  3,687 	 –   	 –   	 –   

	 Interest cost	   476 	  1,340 	  1,816 	  362 	  1,246 	  1,608  

	 Actuarial loss (gain)	   445 	  1,939 	  2,384 	  (616)	  1,300 	  684  

	 Benefit payments	   (26)	  (445)	  (471)	 –   	  (135)	  (135)

	 Exchange gain	   (661)	  1,611 	  950 	  (1,355)	  (6,138)	  (7,493)

Balance at December 31	   12,936 	  37,686 	  50,622 	  8,688 	  31,565 	  40,253  

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total

At January 1	   1,968 	  43,016 	  44,984 	  1,924 	  46,949 	  48,873  

	 Interest income on plan assets	   81 	  1,823 	  1,904 	  77 	  1,751 	  1,828  

	 Actuarial gain (loss)	   (32)	  (1,164)	  (1,196)	  (55)	  (416)	  (471) 

	 Contributions by employer	  –   	  1,728 	  1,728 	  334 	  2,464 	  2,798  

	 Benefit payments	  (26)	  (445)	  (471)	 –   	  (135)	  (135)

	 Exchange loss	  63 	  4,348 	  4,411 	  (312)	  (7,597)	  (7,909)

At December 31	   2,054 	  49,306 	  51,360 	  1,968 	  43,016 	  44,984 

The amounts recognized in the income statement are as follows:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total	 Pension Plan	 SERP	 Total

Current service cost	   520 	  1,483 	  2,003 	  1,168 	  1,972 	  3,140  

Interest cost	  476 	  1,340 	  1,816 	  362 	  1,246 	  1,608

Past service cost	  3,494 	  193 	  3,687 	 –   	 –   	 –   

Expected return on plan assets	  (81)	  (1,823)	  (1,904)	  (77)	  (1,751)	  (1,828)

Defined benefit plans expense	   4,409 	  1,193 	  5,602 	  1,453 	  1,467 	  2,920  

The actual return on plan assets was $3,801 (2015 – $1,687).
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16.	Defined Benefit Plans (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

(%)		  2016	 2015

		  Pension Plan	 SERP		  Pension Plan	 SERP

	 Greece	 Turkey	 Canada	 Canada	 Greece	 Turkey	 Canada

Expected return on plan assets	 –   	 –   	  3.9 	 3.9 	 –   	 –   	  4.0 	  4.0  

Discount rate – beginning of year	  2.0 	  10.5 	  4.0 	  4.0 	  2.0 	  10.5 	  4.0 	  4.0 

Discount rate – end of year	  1.6 	  10.5 	  3.9 	  3.9 	 2.0 	  10.5 	  4.0 	  4.0  

Rate of salary escalation	 2.8 	  6.0 	  2.0 	  2.0 	  3.5 	  6.0 	  2.0 	  2.0  

Average remaining service period of active  
employees expected to receive benefits	 –   	 –   	 7.1 years 	  7.1 years 	 –   	 –   	 8.5 years 	  8.5 years  

The assumption used to determine the interest income on plan assets is equal to the discount rate, as per IAS 19.

Plan Assets
The assets of the Pension Plan and the amounts deposited in the SERP account are managed by a major investment management company and are 
invested only in conformity with the investment requirements of applicable pension laws.

The following table summarizes the defined benefit plans’ weighted average asset allocation percentages by asset category:

(%)	 	 December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

		  Pension Plan	 SERP		  Pension Plan	 SERP

Investment funds					   

	 Money market		  2	 3		  3	 4

	 Canadian fixed income		  98	 4		  97	 4

	 Canadian equities		  – 	 21	  	 – 	 19

	 US equities		   – 	 20		  – 	 19

	 International equities		   – 	 8		  – 	 9

Other (1)		   – 	 44		   – 	 45

Total		  100	 100		  100	 100

(1) 	 Assets held by the Canada Revenue Agency in the refundable tax account.	

The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

		  Change in assumption	 Impact on overall obligation

Discount rate	 Increase by 0.5%	 Decrease by $2,461

		  Decrease by 0.5%	 Increase by $2,719

Salary escalation rate	 Increase/decrease by 0.5%	 Increase/decrease by $8
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17.	 Income Tax Expense and Deferred Taxes

Total income tax expense (recovery) consists of:

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Current tax expense			     47,166 	  	 44,058  

Deferred tax expense (recovery)			     9,039 		   (265,448) 

				     56,205 	  	 (221,390) 

Total income tax expense (recovery) attributable to geographical jurisdiction is as follows:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Turkey			     64,343 	  	 61,726  

Greece			      (1,355)		   (247,903)  

Brazil			     (4,385)	  	 5,719   

Canada			    (1,428)	  	 –  

Romania			    (1,053)		   (41,140) 

Other jurisdictions			     83 		   208  

				      56,205 	  	 (221,390) 

Factors affecting income tax expense (recovery) for the year:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before income tax			     48,698 	  	 (1,844,134) 

Canadian statutory tax rate (%)			   26.00		  26.00

Tax expense (recovery) on net income (loss) at Canadian statutory tax rate			     12,662 	  	 (479,475) 

Items that cause an increase (decrease) in income tax expense:					   

Foreign income subject to different income tax rates than Canada			     (15,695)		   (25,867)

Increase in Greek tax rates			     – 		   63,503  

Non-tax effected operating losses			    19,198 		   33,397  

Non-deductible expenses and other items			     10,525 		   9,967  

Non-deductible goodwill impairment			     – 	  	 137,397  

Foreign exchange and other translation adjustments			     16,048 		   36,103  

Amounts under (over) provided in prior years			     453 		   (523) 

Investment tax credits			     (269)		   (13,989)

Withholding tax on foreign income			     13,283 		   18,097  

Income tax expense (recovery)			     56,205 	  	 (221,390)
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17.	 Income Tax Expense and Deferred Taxes (continued)

The change for the year in the Company’s net deferred tax position was as follows:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Net deferred tax asset (liability)					   

	 Balance at January 1			    (607,871)		   (869,103)

	 Deferred income tax (expense) recovery related to discontinued operations		   174,837 		   (4,216)

	 Deferred income tax (expense) recovery in the income statement			    (9,039)		   265,448

	 Deferred tax recovery in other comprehensive income			     (1,428) 		    –   

Net balance at December 31			     (443,501)		   (607,871) 

The composition of the Company’s net deferred income tax asset and liability and deferred tax expense is as follows:

			   Expense (recovery) 
Type of temporary difference	 Deferred tax assets	 Deferred tax liabilities	 on the income statement

($ thousands)	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

Property, plant and equipment	   – 	  – 	  482,530 	  653,922 	  11,200 	  (263,109) 

Loss carryforwards	   15,436 	  20,389 	  – 	  – 	  (1,603)	  (890)

Liabilities	   20,864 	  18,650 	  – 	  – 	  (3,496)	  8,134 

Investment tax credits	   – 	  5,665 	  – 	  – 	  5,665 	  (4,587) 

Other items	  13,995 	  12,135 	  11,266 	  10,788 	  (2,727)	  (4,996) 

Balance at December 31	  50,295 	  56,839 	  493,796 	  664,710 	  9,039 	  (265,448) 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

($ thousands)				    2016	 2015

Tax losses				      164,100 	  	 151,889  

Other deductible temporary differences				      9,968 		   20,583  

Total unrecognized deferred tax assets				      174,068 	  	 172,472  

Unrecognized Tax Losses
At December 31, 2016 the Company had losses with a tax benefit of $164,100 (2015 – $151,889) which are not recognized as deferred tax assets. 
The Company recognizes the benefit of tax losses only to the extent of anticipated future taxable income that can be reduced by the tax losses. The 
gross amount of the tax losses for which a tax benefit has not been recorded expires as shown on the following page.   
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17.	 Income Tax Expense and Deferred Taxes (continued)

($ thousands) 
Expiry date		   Canada 	  Brazil 	  Greece 	  Australia 	  Total 

2017		  – 	 – 	  5,545 	 – 	  5,545  

2018		  – 	 – 	  9,881 	 – 	  9,881  

2019		  – 	 – 	  26,304 	 – 	  26,304  

2020		   – 	 – 	  23,222 	 – 	  23,222  

2021		  – 	 – 	  14,059 	 – 	  14,059   

2025		   7,858 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  7,858   

2026		   14,839 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  14,839   

2027		   10,703 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  10,703   

2028		   25,959 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  25,959   

2029		   23,444 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  23,444   

2030		   7,285 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  7,285   

2031		   45,351 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  45,351   

2032		   75,041 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  75,041  

2033		   64,883 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  64,883 

2034		   58,689 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  58,689

2035		   55,266 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  55,266 

2036		   52,087 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  52,087  

No Expiry		  – 	  26,866 	 – 	  33,075 	  59,941  

			     441,405 	  26,866 	  79,011 	  33,075 	  580,357  

Capital losses with no expiry		    134,116 	 – 	 – 	 – 	  134,116  

Tax effect of total losses not recognized		    126,456 	  4,808 	  22,913 	  9,923 	  164,100  

	 DEDUCTIBLE TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES

At December 31, 2016 the Company had deductible temporary differences for which deferred tax assets of $9,968 (2015 – $20,583) have not 
been recognized because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits. The vast 
majority of these temporary benefits have no expiry date.

	 TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company has not recognized deferred tax liabilities in respect of historical unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries for which we are 
able to control the timing of the remittance and are considered reinvested for the foreseeable future. At December 31, 2016, these earnings 
amount to $782,803 (2015 – $1,159,318). Substantially all of these earnings would be subject to withholding taxes if they were remitted by 
the foreign subsidiaries.

	 OTHER FACTORS AFFECTING TAXATION

During the year the Turkish lira weakened, causing a deferred income tax expense during the year of $18,173 due to the decrease in the value of the 
future tax deductions associated with the Turkish operations. The Company expects that in the future significant foreign exchange movements in the 
Turkish lira, euro or Brazilian real in relation to the U.S. dollar will cause significant volatility in the deferred income tax expense or recovery. 
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18.	Share Capital

Eldorado’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of voting common shares without par value and an unlimited number of non-voting 
common shares without par value. At December 31, 2016 there were no non-voting common shares outstanding (December 31, 2015 – nil).

On May 25, 2016 the shareholders of the Company approved by special resolution the reduction of the stated capital account of the Company. As at 
December 31, 2016, the stated capital of the Company had been reduced by $2,500,000.

Voting common shares		  Number of shares	 Total $

At January 1, 2015				    716,564,524		  5,318,950

Shares issued upon exercise of share options, for cash				    22,610		  121

Estimated fair value of share options exercised				    –		  30

At December 31, 2015				    716,587,134		  5,319,101

Capital Reduction				    –		  (2,500,000)

Shares issued upon exercise of share options, for cash				    –		  –

Estimated fair value of share options exercised				    –		  –

At December 31, 2016				    716,587,134		  2,819,101

19.	Share Based Payments

(a) 	 Share Option Plans
The Company has two share option plans (the “Plans”) approved, as amended and restated, by the shareholders from time to time and most recently 
on May 1, 2014 under which share purchase options (“Options”) can be granted to directors, officers, employees and consultants.

The Company’s Incentive Stock Option Plan – Employees, Consultants and Advisors (the “Employee Plan”) consists of options (the “Employee Plan 
Options”) which are subject to a five-year maximum term and payable in shares of the Company when vested and exercised. The Employee Plan 
prohibits the repricing of Employee Options without shareholder approval. Employee Plan Options vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors 
at the time an Employee Option is granted. Generally, Employee Plan Options granted before November 1, 2015 vest in three equal and separate 
tranches with the first tranche vesting on the grant date and the second and third tranches vesting on the second and third anniversary dates of the 
grant date. Employee Plan Options granted on or after November 1, 2015 vest in three equal and separate tranches with vesting commencing one 
year after the date of grant and the second and third tranches vesting on the second and third anniversary of the grant date. Employee Plan Options 
are subject to withholding tax on exercise; withholding tax is paid by the Employee Option holder to the Company prior to receipt of the shares 
received pursuant to exercise. 

The Company is responsible for remittance of the withholding tax to the appropriate tax authority. As at December 31, 2016, a total of 
14,701,541 options (2015 – 15,510,585) were available to grant under the Employee Plan.

The Company’s Incentive Stock Option Plan – Officers and Directors Plan (“D&O Plan”) consists of options (the “D&O Options”) which are subject to 
a five-year maximum term and payable in shares of the Company when vested and exercised. The D&O Plan prohibits the repricing of D&O Options 
without shareholder approval. D&O Options vest at the discretion of the Board of Directors at the time a D&O Option is granted. Generally, 
D&O Options granted before November 1, 2015 vest in three equal and separate tranches with the first tranche vesting on the grant date and the 
second and third tranches vesting on the second and third anniversary dates of the grant date. D&O Options granted on or after November 1, 2015 
vest in three equal and separate tranches with vesting commencing one year after the date of grant and the second and third tranches vesting on the 
second and third anniversary of the grant date.
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19.	Share Based Payments (continued)

D&O Options are subject to withholding tax on exercise, withholding tax is paid by the D&O Options holder to the Company prior to receipt of 
the shares received pursuant to exercise. The Company is responsible for remittance of the withholding tax to the appropriate tax authority. As at 
December 31, 2016, a total of 4,243,018 D&O Options (2015 – 6,810,575) were available to grant under the D&O Plan.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

		  2016	 2015

		  Weighted average		  Weighted average	  
		  exercise price	 Number of	 exercise price	 Number of 
		  (CDN$)	 options	 (CDN$)	 options

At January 1	 9.97	 25,519,434	 11.75	 20,995,992

Regular options granted	 3.24	 9,101,164	 6.64	 8,274,440

Exercised	 –	 –	 6.64	 (22,610)

Forfeited	 11.49	 (5,724,563)	 12.62	 (3,728,388)

At December 31	 7.55	 28,896,035	 9.97	 25,519,434

At December 31, 2016, 18,164,617 share purchase options (December 31, 2015 – 18,273,622) with a weighted average exercise price of CDN$9.64 
(December 31, 2015 – CDN$11.17) had vested and were exercisable. Options outstanding are as follows:

			   December 31, 2016

		  Total options outstanding	 Exercisable options

	Range of		  Weighted average	 Weighted average		  Weighted average 
	exercise price		  remaining contractual	 exercise price		  exercise price 
	(CDN$) 	 Shares	 life (years)	 (CDN$)	 Shares	 (CDN$)

	 3.00 to 3.99	 8,266,249	 4.1	 3.23	 33,333	 3.95

	 4.00 to 4.99	 100,000	 4.8	 4.23	 –	 –

	 5.00 to 5.99	 12,247	 4.4	 5.91	 –	 –

	 6.00 to 6.99	 7,166,773	 3.1	 6.66	 4,813,852	 6.66

	 7.00 to 7.99	 5,076,690	 2.1	 7.81	 5,043,356	 7.81

	 8.00 to 8.99	 45,405	 1.3	 8.19	 45,405	 8.19

	 10.00 to 10.99	 4,400,435	 1.1	 10.44	 4,400,435	 10.44

	 12.00 to 12.99 	 415,657	 0.3	 12.74	 415,657	 12.74

	 14.00 to 14.99	 29,218	 0.8	 14.41	 29,218	 14.41

	 15.00 to 15.99	 3,383,361	 0.2	 15.22	 3,383,361	 15.22

			   28,896,035	 2.5	 7.55	 18,164,617	 9.64

Share based payments expense related to share options for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $6,812 (2015 – $11,282).
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19.	Share Based Payments (continued)

The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were:

		  2016	 2015

Risk-free interest rate (%)			   0.43	 0.39

Expected volatility (range) (%)			   55.0–63.0	 53.0–58.0

Expected life (range) (years)			   1.82–3.82	 0.83–2.85

Expected dividends (CDN$)			   0.02	 0.02

Forfeiture rate (%)			   11.0	 7.0

The weighted average fair value per stock option was CDN$1.02 (2015 – CDN$1.75). Volatility was determined based on the historical volatility over 
the estimated lives of the options.

(b) 	 Restricted Share Unit Plan
The Company has a Restricted Share Unit plan (“RSU Plan”) whereby restricted share units may be granted to senior management of the Company. 
Once vested, an RSU is exercisable into one common share entitling the holder to receive the common share for no additional consideration. The 
RSUs vest as follows: one-third on the first anniversary of the grant date, one-third on the second anniversary of the grant date and one-third on the 
third anniversary of the grant date. RSUs terminate on the third anniversary of the grant date. All RSUs which have not been redeemed by the date of 
termination are automatically redeemed. Such RSUs may be redeemed in shares or cash; cash redemptions are subject to the approval of the Board. 
RSU redemptions are subject to withholding tax; withholding tax is paid by the RSU holder to the Company prior to receipt of the resultant shares or 
cash. Cash settlements are issued net of withholding tax. The Company is responsible for remittance of the withholding tax to the appropriate tax 
authority. The current maximum number of common shares authorized for issue under the RSU Plan is 5,000,000.

A total of 784,203 RSUs (2015 – 596,089) at a grant-date fair value of CDN$3.22 per unit were granted during the year ended December 31, 2016 
(2015 – CDN$6.67) under the Company’s RSU Plan and 261,402 RSUs were exercisable at December 31, 2016 (2015 – 198,697).

The fair value of each RSU issued is determined as the closing share price at grant date.

A summary of the status of the RSU Plan and changes during the year is as follows:

		  2016	 2015

At January 1				    884,846		  1,086,523

Granted 				    784,203		  596,089

Redeemed				    (335,339)		  (715,889)

Forfeited				    (93,536)		  (81,877)

At December 31 				    1,240,174		  884,846

As at December 31, 2016, 549,507 common shares purchased by the Company remain held in trust in connection with the RSU Plan (2015 – 
884,846). At the end of the period, 283,736 restricted share units are fully vested and exercisable (2015 – 225,406). These shares purchased and 
held in trust have been included in treasury stock in the balance sheet.

Restricted share units expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,888 (2015 – $4,147). 

Subsequent to year end, the Company purchased 569,599 common shares and are held in trust. 
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19.	Share Based Payments (continued)

(c) 	 Deferred Unit Plan 
The Company has an Independent Directors Deferred Unit plan (“DU Plan”) under which DUs are granted by the Board from time to time to 
independent directors (“the Participants”). DUs may be redeemed only on retirement of the independent director from the Board (the “Termination 
Date”) by providing the redemption notice (“Redemption Notice”) to the Company. Final receipt of the Redemption Notice is due fifteen (15) 
trading days after the Termination Date but no later than December 31 of the first calendar year commencing after the calendar year in which the 
Termination Date occurred (the “Redemption Date”); the Participant shall have the right to receive, and shall receive, with respect to all DUs held at 
the Redemption Date a cash payment equal to the market value of such DUs as of the Redemption Date. The Company will withhold income tax on 
redeemed DUs and is responsible for submission of the withholding tax to the tax authority. 

At December 31, 2016, 498,390 DUs were outstanding (2015 – 386,303) with a value of $1,604 (2015 – $1,144), which is included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities.

Compensation expense related to the DUs was $295 for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 – income of $381).

(d) 	 Performance Share Unit Plan
The Company has a Performance Share Unit plan (“PSU Plan”) whereby PSUs may be granted to senior management of the Company at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors. Once vested, at the option of the Company, PSUs are redeemable as a cash payment equal to the market value 
of the vested PSUs as of the Redemption Date, common shares of the Company equal to the number of vested PSUs, or a combination of cash and 
shares equal to the market value of the vested PSUs, for no additional consideration from the PSU holder and to be redeemed as soon as practicable 
after the Redemption Date. The Company will withhold income tax on redeemed PSUs and is responsible for submission of the withholding tax to the 
tax authority.

A total of 796,652 PSUs were granted during the year ended December 31, 2016 under the PSU Plan (2015 – 624,580). PSUs cliff vest on the 
third anniversary of the grant date (the “Redemption Date”) and are subject to terms and conditions including the achievement of predetermined 
performance criteria (the “Performance Criteria”). When fully vested the number of PSUs redeemed will range from 0% to 200% of the target 
award, subject to the achievement of the Performance Criteria. The current maximum number of common shares authorized for issuance from 
treasury under the PSU Plan is 3,130,000.

Compensation expense related to PSUs for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,564 (2015 – $829).

20.	Supplementary Cash Flow Information

($ thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Changes in non-cash working capital		

	 Accounts receivable and other				    17,168		  (19,181)

	 Inventories				    (18,264)		  36,530

	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities				    33,391		  79,458

	 Total				    32,295		  96,807

Supplementary cash flow information		

	 Income taxes paid				    48,653		  81,282

	 Interest paid				    34,051		  34,166



66    	 ELDORADO GOLD FINANCIALS 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

21.	 Financial Risk Management

21.1	FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS	

Eldorado’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. Eldorado’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on Eldorado’s financial performance. 	

(a)	 Market Risk
(i) Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company operates principally in Canada, Turkey, China, Brazil, Greece and Romania, and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

Eldorado’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable securities, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities and debt are denominated 
in several currencies, and are therefore subject to fluctuation against the U.S. dollar. 

The table below summarizes Eldorado’s exposure to the various currencies denominated in foreign currency:

	 Canadian	 Australian		  Turkish 	 Chinese	 Swedish	 Romanian	 British	 Brazilian 
(Amounts in thousands)	 dollar	 dollar	 Euro	 lira	 renminbi	 krona	 lei	 pound	 real

Cash and cash equivalents	   7,985 	  461 	  25,743 	  2,423 	  11,799 	  1,774 	  11,147 	  217 	  22,035  

Marketable securities	   38,036 	  – 	 – 	 – 	  – 	  – 	 – 	  – 	  –  

Accounts receivable and other	   1,694 	  4 	  19,045 	  41,600 	  3,052 	  – 	  6,756 	  – 	  8,350  

Accounts payable and  
accrued liabilities	   (13,211)	  (663)	  (39,138)	  (38,043)	  (10,239)	  – 	  (6,085)	  – 	  (5,505)

Other non-current liability	  –   	 –	  (5,596)	  (14,741)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –

Net balance	   34,504 	  (198)	  54 	  (8,761)	  4,612 	  1,774 	  11,818 	  217 	  24,880  

Equivalent in US dollars	   25,697 	  (143)	  57 	  (2,489)	  665 	  195 	  2,746 	  268 	  7,634 

Based on the balances as at December 31, 2016, a 1% increase/decrease in the U.S. dollar exchange rate against all of the other currencies on that date 
would have resulted in a decrease/increase of approximately $346 in profit (loss) before taxes. There would be no effect on other comprehensive income.

Cash flows from operations are exposed to foreign exchange risk, as commodity sales are set in U.S. dollars and a certain amount of operating 
expenses are in the currency of the country in which mining operations take place. 

(ii) Metal Price Risk and Other Price Risk
Eldorado is subject to price risk for fluctuations in the market price of gold and other metals. Gold and other metals prices are affected by numerous 
factors beyond the Company’s control, including central bank sales, producer hedging activities, the relative exchange rate of the U.S. dollar with 
other major currencies, global and regional demand, and political and economic conditions. 

World-wide gold and other metals production levels also affect their prices, and the price of these metals is occasionally subject to rapid short-term 
changes due to speculative activities. The Company has elected not to actively manage its exposure to metal price risk at this time. From time to time, 
Eldorado may use commodity price contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in the price of gold and other metals.

Other price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. 

Eldorado’s other price risk includes equity price risk, whereby the Company’s investments in marketable securities are subject to market 
price fluctuation.



ELDORADO GOLD FINANCIALS 2016    	 67

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

21.	 Financial Risk Management (continued)

(iii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 
Current financial assets and financial liabilities are generally not exposed to interest rate risk because of their short-term nature. The Company’s debt 
is in the form of notes with a fixed interest rate of 6.13%. However, borrowings under the ARCA are at variable rates of interest and any borrowings 
would expose the Company to interest rate cost and interest rate risk. 

(b)	 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits and 
accounts receivable. Eldorado deposits its cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, and its term deposits with high-credit-quality financial 
institutions as determined by rating agencies. 

Payment for metal sales is normally in advance or within 15 days of shipment depending on the buyer. The historical level of customer defaults 
is negligible which reduces the credit risk associated with trade receivables at December 31, 2016.  

(c) 	 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. 
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalent balances and by using its lines of credit as required. Management 
monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows, and also matches the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities. Contractual 
maturities relating to debt are included in Note 14.

21.2	CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Eldorado’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development 
of our mining projects. Capital consists of all of the components of equity; share capital from ordinary shares, contributed surplus, accumulated other 
comprehensive income, deficit and non-controlling interests.

Consistent with others in the industry, Eldorado monitors capital on the basis of the debt to capital ratio and Net Debt to EBITDA. The debt to capital 
ratio is calculated as debt, including current and non-current debt, divided by capital. The Net Debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as debt, including 
current and non-current debt, less cash, cash equivalents and term deposits, divided by earnings before interest costs, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization. This policy includes a target debt to capital ratio of less than 30% and a Net Debt to EBITDA target ratio below 3.5.

As at December 31, 2016, our debt to capital ratio was 14.0% (2015 – 15.0%) and our Net Debt to EBITDA ratio was -1.7:1 (2015 – 1.99:1).

These policy targets are managed through the repayments and issuances of debt as well as the continuing management of operations and 
capital expenditures.

21.3	FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

Fair values are determined directly by reference to published price quotations in an active market, when available, or by using a valuation technique 
that uses inputs observed from relevant markets.  

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

●	 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

●	 Level 2 – Inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs (i.e. quoted prices for similar assets 
or liabilities).

●	 Level 3 – Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable 
(i.e. supported by little or no market activity).
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21.	 Financial Risk Management (continued)

The only assets measured at fair value as at December 31, 2016 are marketable securities. No liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
as at December 31, 2016.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded 
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, 
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. Instruments included in Level 1 comprise primarily publicly 
traded equity investments classified as held-for-trading securities or available-for-sale securities.  

22.	Commitments

The Company’s contractual obligations, not recorded on the balance sheet, at December 31, 2016, include:

($ thousands)	 2017	 2018	 2019	 2020 and later

Leases	 13,862	 3,745	 2,638	 8,544

Purchase obligations	 73,214	 925	 51	 101

Totals	 87,076	 4,670	 2,689	 8,645

Purchase obligations in 2017 relate primarily to mine development expenditures in Greece as well as operating costs in Turkey.

23.	Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings from time to time, arising in the ordinary course of its business. As at December 31, 2016, the amount 
of ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not, in the opinion of management, materially affect Eldorado’s financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.

24.	Related Party Transactions

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), officers and senior management. The compensation paid or payable to key 
management for employee services, including amortization of share based payments, is shown below:

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits				     8,152 	  	 10,106 

Defined benefit pension plan				      1,350 	  	 1,670  

Share based payments				     5,326 		   9,188  

		   			    14,828 	  	 20,964 
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25.	 Financial Instruments by Category

Fair Value
The following table provides the carrying value and the fair value of financial instruments at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

($ thousands)	 	 December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

		 Carrying amount	 Fair value		 Carrying amount	 Fair value

Financial assets					   

Available-for-sale 					   

 	 Marketable securities		    28,327 	  28,327 		   18,331 	  18,331  

					   

Loans and receivables						    

 	 Cash and cash equivalents		    883,171 	  883,171 		   288,189 	  288,189  

 	 Term deposit		   5,292 	  5,292 		   4,382 	  4,382 

	 Restricted cash		   240 	  240 		   248 	  248  

	 Accounts receivable and other		   32,159 	  32,159 		   69,273 	  69,273  

	 Other assets		    1,810 	  1,810 		   19,320 	  19,320  

					   

Financial liabilities at amortized cost					   

 	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		   90,705 	  90,705 		   236,819 	  236,819  

 	 Debt	  591,589 	  609,000 	  589,395 	  526,878  

26.	Production Costs

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Labour				      55,223 	  	 50,092  

Fuel	  			   22,405 	  	 32,785 

Reagents	  			   35,292 	  	 34,462 

Electricity				     13,991 	  	 14,218 

Mining contractors	  			   16,028 	  	 19,767 

Operating and maintenance supplies and services				     45,376 		   54,116 

Site general and administrative costs				     20,394 		   18,385 

Inventory change	  			   (19,510)		   21,457  

Royalties, production taxes and selling expenses				     5,470 	  	 6,840  

	  				     194,669 	  	 252,122  

27.	 Interest and Financing Costs

($ thousands)		  2016	 2015

Interest expense				      5,434 	  	 9,571  

Financing fees				      4,323 		   8,003  

Total interest and financing costs		   		   9,757 	  	 17,574   
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28.	Earnings per Share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

(Thousands)		  December 31, 2016	 December 31, 2015

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation		

	 of basic earnings per share				      716,587 	  	 716,586   

Diluted impact of stock options				     6 		   4 

		

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation		

	 of diluted earnings per share				      716,593 		   716,590 

29.	Segment Information

	 IDENTIFICATION OF REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

The Company has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief executive officer and the 
executive management (the chief operating decision makers or CODM) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

The CODM considers the business from both a geographic and product perspective and assesses the performance of the operating segments based 
on measures of profit and loss as well as assets and liabilities. These measures include operating profit, expenditures on exploration, property, plant 
and equipment, and non-current assets, as well as total debt. As at December 31, 2016, Eldorado had five reportable segments based on the 
geographical location of mining and exploration and development activities.  

29.1	GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS	

Geographically, the operating segments are identified by country and by operating mine or mine under construction. The Turkey reporting segment 
includes the Kişladağ and the Efemçukuru mines and exploration activities in Turkey. The Brazil reporting segment includes the Vila Nova mine, 
Tocantinzinho project and exploration activities in Brazil. The Greece reporting segment includes the Stratoni mine, the Olympias, Skouries, Perama 
Hill and Sapes projects and exploration activities in Greece. The Romania reporting segment includes the Certej project and exploration activities in 
Romania. Other reporting segment includes operations of Eldorado’s corporate office and exploration activities in other countries. 

Financial information about each of these operating segments is reported to the CODM on at least a monthly basis. The mines in each of the 
different segments share similar economic characteristics and have been aggregated accordingly.



ELDORADO GOLD FINANCIALS 2016    	 71

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated

29.	Segment Information (continued)							     

							       2016

($ thousands)		  Turkey 	 Brazil 	 Greece	 Romania	 Other	 Total

Information about profit and loss							     

Metal sales from external customers	   	 392,096 	  – 	  40,631 	  –	  –	  432,727  

Production costs	   	 159,632 	 –	  35,037 	 –	  – 	  194,669  

Depreciation	   	 74,061 	  – 	  543 	  2 	 281	  74,887  

Gross profit (loss)	   	 158,403 	  –	 5,051	 (2)	 (281)	  163,171  

							     

Other material items of income and expense							     

Other write-down (write-up) of assets	  	 626 	 (798)	  – 	  – 	 –	 (172) 

Exploration costs	  	 2,278 	 3,503	  3,091 	  1,892 	  8,009 	  18,773  

Income tax expense (recovery)	   	 64,343 	 (4,385)	 (1,355)	 (1,053)	 (1,345)	  56,205 

							     

Additions to property, plant and

	 equipment during the period	   	 65,674 	  6,057 	  210,770 	  15,953 	  50 	  298,504  

							     

Information about assets and liabilities							     

Property, plant and equipment (1)	   	 885,629 	  186,606 	  2,157,822 	  413,949 	  1,821 	  3,645,827  

Debt		   –	 –	 – 	 – 	  591,589 	  591,589  

	 (1)    Net of revenues from sale of production from tailings retreatment.
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29.	Segment Information (continued)

							       2015

($ thousands)		  Turkey 	 Brazil 	 Greece	 Romania	 Other	 Total

Information about profit and loss							     

Metal sales from external customers	   	 443,609 	 (399)	  35,869 	  – 	  – 	  479,079  

Production costs	   	 214,001 	  1,616 	  36,505 	  – 	 – 	  252,122  

Inventory write-down		  – 	  8,745 	  3,279 	  –	 – 	  12,024  

Depreciation	   	 77,164 	  1,028 	  10,676 	  1 	  451 	  89,320  

Gross profit (loss)	   	 152,444 	 (11,788)	 (14,591)	 (1)	 (451)	  125,613  

							     

Other material items of income and expense						    

Impairment loss on property, plant and						    

    equipment and goodwill		  – 	  28,233 	  1,559,822 	  254,910 	  – 	  1,842,965  

Other write-down of assets	  	 6,891 	  3,173 	 – 	  – 	  – 	  10,064  

Exploration costs	  	 5,576 	  1,493 	  2,421 	  3,351 	  3,487 	  16,328

Income tax expense (recovery)	  	 61,726 	 5,719	 (247,722)	 (41,140)	  27 	 (221,390)  

							     

Additions to property, plant and 
equipment during the year	   	 83,501 	  4,176 	  242,655 	  19,983 	  250 	  350,565

							       2015

($ thousands)	 Turkey 	 China(2)	 Brazil 	 Greece	 Romania	 Other	 Total  

Information about assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (1)	   898,027 	  1,327,725 	  179,702 	  1,942,419 	  398,147 	  1,739 	  4,747,759   

Goodwill	    –   	  50,276 	  –   	  –  	  –   	 –   	  50,276   

		    898,027 	  1,378,001 	  179,702 	  1,942,419 	  398,147 	  1,739 	  4,798,035  

Debt	   –   	 –   	  –   	  –  	 –   	 589,395 	  589,395 

		  (1) 	 Net of revenues from sale of production from tailings retreatment.

	 (2)	 The China Business was sold during the year.

The Turkey segment derives its revenues from sales of gold. The Brazil segment derives its revenue from sales of iron ore. The Greece segment derives 
its revenue from sales of zinc, lead and silver concentrates.

29.2 SEASONALITY/CYCLICALITY OF OPERATIONS

Management does not consider operations to be of a significant seasonal or cyclical nature.
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STOCK EXCHANGES

Eldorado is traded on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (TSX: ELD) and on the New York 
Stock Exchange (NYSE: EGO)

INVESTOR CONTACT INFORMATION

For inquiries related to Eldorado Gold’s 
operating activities and financial performance:

Krista Muhr 
Vice President Investor Relations &  
Corporate Communications 
604 687 4018 
info@eldoradogold.com

For inquiries related to shares, dividends or 
change of address:

Computershare Investor Services  
1 800 564 6253 
www-us.computershare.com/investor/ 
contact/index

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING

April 27, 2017 
3:00pm Pacific Time

Fairmont Hotel Vancouver 
Waddington Room 
900 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver, BC  V6C 2W6

TRANSFER AGENT  
AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Investor Services  
100 University Avenue 
8th Floor, North Tower 
Toronto, Ontario  M5J 2Y1

AUDITORS

KPMG LLP 
Vancouver, BC

LEGAL COUNSEL

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP 
Vancouver, BC  Canada 

Dorsey & Whitney LLP 
Denver, CO  USA

SOURCES OF SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION

These financials are one of several sources of 
information for shareholders of Eldorado Gold 
Corporation. Other sources include:

●	 The comparative interim financial 
statements published quarterly.

●	 The Management Proxy Circular describing 
the matters to be considered at the Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders.

●	 The Annual Information Form, Form 40-F 
and other corporate and continuous 
disclosure documents available on the 
Company’s website, the SEDAR website 
(www.sedar.com) and the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission website  
(www.sec.gov).

Section 303A.11 of the NYSE Listed Company 
Manual permits foreign private issuers to 
follow home country practices in lieu of 
certain provisions of the NYSE Listed Company 
Manual. A foreign private issuer that follows 
home country practices in lieu of certain 
provision of the NYSE Listed Company Manual 
must disclose any significant ways in which 
its corporate governance practices differ 
from those followed by domestic companies. 
A description of the significant ways in which 
the Company’s governance practices differ 
from those followed by domestic companies 
pursuant to the NYSE Listed Company 
Manual is available on the Company’s website 
at www.eldoradogold.com. 

COMPANY FILINGS

www.sedar.com 
www.sec.gov
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

CANADA (HEAD OFFICE)

Eldorado Gold Corporation 
1188 Bentall 5 
550 Burrard Street 
Vancouver, BC  V6C 2B5   Canada

Tel:  	604 687 4018 
Fax: 	604 687 4026 
Toll-free: 1 888 353 8166

TURKEY

Tüprag Metal Madencilik  
Sanayive Ticaret A.S. 
Iran Caddesi 
Turan Emeksiz Sok. No. 1 
06700 Gaziosmanpasa 
Ankara   Turkey 

Tel:	 90 312 468 4536  
Fax: 	90 312 468 2646

CHINA

Eldorado Gold Corporation 
Room 1001, West Tower 
LG Twin Towers 
B-12 Jianguomenwai Avenue  
Chaoyang District, Beijing 
100022   China

Tel:  	86 10 5828 7966  
Fax: 	86 10 5828 7967

GREECE

Hellas Gold SA & Thracean  
Gold Mining SA 
23A Vasilissis Sofias Avenue 
Athens 
10674   Greece  

Tel:  	30 214 687 0000 
Fax: 	30 214 687 0095

BRAZIL

Unamgen Mineração e Metalurgia S/A 
Avenida Olegário Maciel  
1846 – Santo Agostinho 
Belo Horizonte, MG 
CEP 30180-112   Brazil

Tel:  	55 31 2101 3750 
Fax: 	55 31 2101 3758

ROMANIA

Deva Gold SA 
No. 9 Dragos Voda Street 
BL. 28, SC. A-B 
Deva, Hunedoara County 
330034   Romania

Tel:  	40 25 423 3680 
Fax: 	40 25 423 3682

BARBADOS

Eldorado Gold (Barbados) Limited 
White Park House 
White Park Road 
Bridgetown 
BB11135   Barbados

Tel: 	+1 246 271 5357 
Fax:	 +1 246 271 5357

THE NETHERLANDS

Eldorado Gold (Netherlands) BV 
Barbara Strozzilaan 101 
1083 HN, Amsterdam 
The Netherlands

Tel: 	+31 204 509 610 
Fax: 	+31 204 509 611
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